Public Document Pack

South Hams Development
Management Committee
Title:

Agenda

Date:

Wednesday, 22nd May, 2019

Time:

11.30 am and 2.00pm

Venue:

Council Chamber - Follaton House

Full Members:
Members:

Chairman

Cllr

Vice Chairman

Cllr

Cllr
Cllr
Cllr
Cllr

Cllr
Cllr
Cllr
Cllr

Interests –
Declaration and
Restriction on
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Committee
administrator:

Kathy Trant Specialist- Democratic Services

01803 861185

Page No

1.

Minutes

1-4

To approve as a correct record and authorise the Chairman to
sign the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 10
April 2019;

2.

Urgent Business
Brought forward at the discretion of the Chairman;

3.

Division of Agenda
to consider whether the discussion of any item of business is
likely to lead to the disclosure of exempt information;

4.

Declarations of Interest
Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable
pecuniary interests, including the nature and extent of such
interests they may have in any items to be considered at this
meeting;

5.

Public Participation
The Chairman to advise the Committee on any requests received
from members of the public to address the meeting;

6.

Planning Applications
To see Letters of Representation and further supplementary
information relating to any of the Applications on the agenda,
please select the following link and enter the relevant Planning
Reference number:
http://apps.southhams.gov.uk/PlanningSearchMVC/

(a)

4214/18/FUL
Residential development to provide 13 dwellings with associated
access, car parking, public open space and landscaping
Land at Holwell Farm, St Anns Chapel, TQ7 4AP
**Upon the conclusion of the above agenda item, the
meeting will be adjourned and reconvened at 2.00pm**

5 - 30

Page No
(b)

2483/18/FUL

31 - 46

Construction of a new quay to improve access (resubmission of
3078/17/FUL)
1 Old Coastguard Cottages, Wembury, PL9 0EJ
(c)

2484/18/LBC

47 - 52

Listed Building Consent for construction of a new quay to improve
access
1 Old Coastguard Cottages, Wembury, PL9 0EJ
(d)

0468/19/HHO

53 - 64

Householder application for conversion and extension of single
storey bungalow to create new first floor above existing ground
floor accommodation; Retained existing ground floor fabric to be
thermally upgraded and re-clad and existing accommodation
reconfigured; new adjoining flat roofed carport and garden store
to be created; existing hardstanding to be adapted to suit new
parking arrangement (Resubmission of 2918/18/HHO)
8 Hillcrest Close, Wembury, PL9 0HA
(e)

3851/18/HHO

65 - 70

Retrospective householder permission for the erection of
replacement single storey extension on rear elevation
7 Greenhill Terrace, Greenhill, East Allington, TQ9 7RB
(f)

1021/19/PDM

71 - 80

Notification for prior approval for proposed change of use of
agricultural building to dwellinghouse (Class C3) and for
associated operational development (Class Q(a+b))
Barn at Higher Yetson Farm, Ashprington, Totnes, TQ9 7EG
7.

Planning Appeals Update

81 - 86

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda
Item 1
Dev Management 10.04.19
MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE HELD AT FOLLATON HOUSE, TOTNES, ON WEDNESDAY,
10 APRIL 2019
Members in attendance
* Denotes attendance
*
*
*
*
*
*

Cllr I Bramble
Cllr J Brazil
Cllr D Brown
Cllr P K Cuthbert
Cllr R J Foss (Vice Chairman)
Cllr P W Hitchins

*
*
*
*
*
*

Cllr J M Hodgson
Cllr T R Holway
Cllr J A Pearce
Cllr R Rowe
Cllr R C Steer (Chairman)
Cllr R J Vint

Other Members also in attendance:
Cllrs Baldry and Tucker
Officers in attendance and participating:
Item No:
All agenda
items

Application No:

Officers:
HOP Development Management,
Planning Specialists, Deputy Monitoring
Officer, Specialist Democratic Services

DM.64/18

MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 13 March 2019 were
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

DM.65/18

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members and officers were invited to declare any interests in the items of
business to be considered and the following were made:
Cllr D Brown declared a personal interest in the following planning applications
that were sited within the South Devon AONB by virtue of being a Member of
the South Devon AONB Partnership Committee and remained in the meeting
and took part in the debate and vote thereon:
3400/18/FUL: Demolition of buildings and redevelopment of site with 3no.
detached dwellings – Blindwells, Hynetown Road, Strete
0010/18/ARM: READVERTISEMENT (Revised Plans Received) Application
for approval of reserved matters following outline approval
62/2507/15/O for construction of two-storey dwelling – 11 Fore
Street, Yealmpton

Page 1

Dev Management 10.04.19

DM.66/18

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
The Chairman announced that a list of members of the public and town and
parish council representatives, who had registered their wish to speak at the
meeting, had been circulated.

DM.67/18

PLANNING APPLICATIONS
The Committee considered the details of the planning applications prepared
by the Planning Case Officers as presented in the agenda papers, and
considered also the comments of Town and Parish Councils together with
other representations received, which were listed within the presented agenda
reports, and RESOLVED that:
a) 3400/18/FUL

Blindwells, Hynetown Road, Strete
Parish: Strete

Demolition of buildings and redevelopment of site with 3no. detached
dwellings
Case Officer Update:
Speakers included:

Supporter – Mr Garry Dimeck: Parish Council –
Cllr Kate Gill; Ward Member – Cllr Foss

Recommendation:
Delegate to Head of Development Management
Practice (HoP), in conjunction with Chairman to conditionally grant planning
permission, subject to a Section 106 legal obligation.
However, in the event that the Section 106 legal Agreement remains unsigned
six months after this resolution, that the application is reviewed by the HoP, in
consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, and if no progress is being
made delegated authority is given to the HoP to refuse the application in the
absence of an agreed S106 Agreement.
During discussion, Members heard that the parish council had objected to the
application and would prefer to have two dwellings on the site. The parish
council made reference to their Neighbourhood Plan, currently at Regulation
16 stage, including a proposed policy on low density sites within the village.
However, this was contrary to the comments of the local Ward Member who
raised concerns over the loss of two smaller, more affordable units and being
replaced with three larger homes that would clearly not be affordable.
Members view was that the proposal was contrary to Policy DEV8 in the
recently adopted Joint Local Plan, as it did not provide a mix of housing.
Committee Decision:

Refusal

Reasons:
The proposed development fails to provide a mix of housing sizes ,
types and tenures appropriate to the area and as supported by local
housing evidence and as such fails to ensure that the development

Page 2

Dev Management 10.04.19

contributes to the provision of a range of housing which broadens
choice and meets specialist needs for existing and future residents.
As such the proposed development is contrary to Policies SPT2 and
DEV8 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan, 2019
and the National Planning Policy Framework, 2019, in particular paras
61 and 77.
b) 0010/18/ARM

11 Fore Street, Yealmpton
Parish: Yealmpton

READVERTISEMENT (Revised Plans Received) Application for approval
of reserved matters following outline approval 62/2507/15/O for
construction of two-storey dwelling
Case Officer Update:

Second page of report, change ref to 2016 not
2015 for outline permission consent under ‘The
Proposal’
Condition 1, ‘Reserved Matters time limit’ is
superfluous and should be removed
Condition 4 should refer to 2015 GPDO not 1995
and condition 7 needs a reason adding.

Speakers included:

Objector – Ms Jacqueline Moore: Supporter – Mr
Lee Ferris: Parish Council – Cllr John Endicott;
Ward Members – Cllr Baldry

Recommendation:

Conditional Approval

Committee Decision:

Conditional Approval

Conditions:
1. Accord with plans
2. Samples of materials
3. Removal of PD rights
4. Pre commencement landscaping and boundary treatment
5. Notwithstanding the drawings the details of the grass bank to the west of
the entrance steps shall be submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning
Authority
6. Surfacing materials to be agreed prior to their installation
DM.68/18

PLANNING APPEALS UPDATE
Members noted the list of appeals as outlined in the presented agenda report.
The HOP Development Management provided further detail on specific
decisions.

(Meeting commenced at 2.00pm and concluded at 4.00pm)
_______________
Chairman

Page 3

Dev Management 10.04.19

Voting Analysis for Planning Applications – DM Committee 10 April 2019
Application
No:

Site Address

Vote

Blindwells, Hynetown Road, Strete
3400/18/FUL

Refusal

11 Fore Street, Yealmpton
3262/18/FUL

Conditional
Approval

Councillors who Voted Yes

Councillors who Voted
No

Councillors who Voted
Abstain

Absent

Cllrs Rowe, Hodgson, Brown, Cllrs Steer, Bramble,
Vint, Foss, Cuthbert, Hitchins, Pearce, Holway (4)
Brazil (8)

(0)

(0)

Cllrs Rowe, Brown, Vint,
Foss, Cuthbert, Hitchins,
Brazil, Steer, Holway,
Bramble (10)

Cllr Brazil (1)

(0)

Cllr Hodgson (1)

Page 4

Agenda Item 6a
PLANNING APPLICATION REPORT
Case Officer: Wendy Ormsby

Parish: Bigbury Ward: Charterlands

Application No: 4214/18/FUL
Agent/Applicant:
Mrs Valerie Scott - Valerie Scott Planning
Glen Cottage
Bigbury
Kingsbridge
TQ7 4AP

Applicant:
Mr Rob Ellis - South Hams District Council
Follaton House
Plymouth Road
Totnes
TQ9 5NE

Site Address: Land at Holwell Farm, St Ann’s Chapel, TQ7 4AP
Development: Residential development to provide 13 dwellings with associated access, car
parking, public open space and landscaping
Reason item is being put before Committee: The applicant is South Hams District Council.

Page 5

Recommendation: Recommendation: Delegate to Head of Development Management Practice
(HoP), in conjunction with Chairman to conditionally grant planning permission, subject to a Section
106 legal obligation.
However, in the event that the Section 106 legal Agreement remains unsigned six months after this
resolution, that the application is reviewed by the HoP, in consultation with the Chairman of the
Committee, and if no progress is being made delegated authority is given to the HoP to refuse to
application in the absence of an agreed S106 Agreement.
The terms of the Section 106 Obligation are:





8 x affordable dwellings (60%), 3 of which will be discounted sale (30% - 40% discount subject
to education contribution) and 5 will be affordable rent.
Implementation and management of LEMP
Secure public access to POS and on-going management and maintenance, including SUDs
features.
Written scheme of works to be agreed and undertaken to improve long term legibility and viability
of the nearby Holy Well Scheduled Ancient Monument

Conditions
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Time
Accords with plans
CEMP
LEMP
Materials details/samples to be agreed and roof to the finished with natural slates fixed in the
traditional way using nails not hooks
6. Levels to be agreed
7. Boundary treatment details, including any retaining walls, to be agreed and to provide
permeability for wildlife and details of boundary treatments to ensure protection and retention of
new and existing boundary hedgerows and planting to be agreed and implemented.
8. Details and materials of hard and soft landscaping to be agreed
9. Footpath to eastern site boundary to be provided prior to occupation of first dwelling
10. Parking areas to be provided prior to occupation
11. PD removed – roof alterations, boundary treatments, hard surfaces
12. Pre-commencement percolation testing
13. Pre-commencement surface water management scheme
14. ground water monitoring scheme
15. Pre-commencement construction phase surface water management scheme
16. Tamar Estuary mitigation
17. No external lighting unless agreed
18. Details of integral bird nest sites to be agreed and provided
19. Unsuspected contamination
20. Details of electric charging points to be agreed and provided
21. Acoustic fence to be provided on northern boundary of Holywell Stores
22. Details of kerb types, heights, road details etc are to be agreed
23. Tree protection details
Key issues for consideration:
The requirement to give great weight to conserving and enhancing the South Devon AONB, the impact
on the setting of the Holy Well Scheduled Ancient Monument, impacts on biodiversity, highway safety
and access, the way in which the proposal meets the needs of the Parish.

Page 6

Financial Implications (Potential New Homes Bonus for major applications):
It is estimated that this development has the potential to attract New Homes Bonus of £17,378.40 per
annum however The Government have advised that the New Homes Bonus scheme will end after the
2019-2020 financial year and this year is the last year's allocation (which was based on dwellings built
out by October 2018). A statement about a replacement scheme is expected in September 2019.
Members are advised that this is provided on an information basis only and is not a material planning
consideration in the determination of this application.

Site Description:
The site of 0.66 hectares of agricultural land is located on the northern edge of St Ann’s Chapel, a small
rural village. Despite its small size the village has a number of local facilities including a shop and post
office, a pub, a village hall and children’s playground. The village facilities serve the wider community
of the Parish including Bigbury which shares the village hall.
The site is the southern corner of a much larger field, currently there are no field boundaries on the
proposed north west and north east edges of the development site. The site slopes downwards from
south west to north east.
New housing is sited to west of the site and the shop Holywell Stores and car park are sited to the
south. The site proposes to take vehicular access from the B3392 and pedestrian access from Holywell
Road.
St Ann’s Chapel is dominated by a busy cross roads where there is limited visibility for traffic arriving at
most of the junction points.
North East of the application site, in the corner of the main field is a Scheduled Ancient Monument
(SAM), the Holy Well. This monument is fenced off from the main field but is very overgrown. This
SAM is on the Heritage at Risk Register as a result of vulnerability due to scrub and tree growth.
The Pickwick Inn to the south of the site is a Grade II Listed Building.
The site is within a cirl bunting habitat buffer zone. It is within the Tamar Estuary zone of influence.
The site is also within the South Devon Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.
The application site is the preferred site within the emerging Bigbury Neighbourhood Plan (reg 15 stage)
for residential development of up to 13 dwellings, identified to meet the housing needs of the Parish
The Proposal:
The application proposes 13 dwellings of the following mix:
4 x 2 bed semi detached
1 x 2 bed detached
2 x 2 bed semi-detached bungalows
1 x 3 bed detached bungalow
3 x 3 bed detached
2 x 3 bed semi detached
The size of the house vary from 80.9 to 98.8 sq. m and comply with National Space Standards
Plots 4 and 1 will be provided as serviced plots with footings and given to the landowner, to be
completed at the same time as the rest of the development

Page 7

Plots 5, 6 and 7 are to be sold on the open market. It is stated that these units will be subject to a
principal residency clause to prevent use as a second home within the terms of sale.
The remaining 8 dwellings will be affordable. Three would be available for discount purchase with a
discount of between 30 to 45 % off market price (depending of the extent of financial contribution
required for education and /or recreation) and the remaining for available for affordable rent at 60% of
market rate.
The dwellings are designed as a ‘rural cluster’ of units set around a central open space, accessed via
a shared surface cul-de-sac road. A pedestrian link to the eastern boundary will provide pedestrian
access to the village facilities
The dwellings will be of timber frame construction and seek to achieve passivhaus certification. External
materials include mainly painted render and natural slate roofs but also include natural stone and some
timber cladding to break up the massing and minimise landscape impact
The design includes the use of solar photovoltaic arrays within the south facing roof slopes.
The proposed dwellings have a variety of forms and roof heights, full details of the design approach are
set out in the supporting Design and Access Statement.
Each property has a minimum of 2 parking spaces.
The dwellings are clustered around a public open space to the south.
Consultations:


County Highways Authority: Holding objection: inadequate information to demonstrate adequate
road width and visibility splays etc. – verbal update on highway matters to be given at committee.



Environmental Health Section: No objection subject to conditions



SHDC Affordable Housing: Further to my comments below, I can confirm that the Affordable
Housing team support the revised tenure mix on this application. The revised mix is:
5 x Affordable Rent units
3 x Discount Sale units
This mix meets an identified housing need in the parish of Bigbury. We are also in support of the
housing mix.



SHDC Landscape: No support, moderate harmful landscape impact identified



AONB Unit: No comment



SHDC Ecology: No objection subject to conditions



DCC Education: No objection subject to the following financial contributions:
Secondary school infrastructure: £42,745
Secondary school transport: £13,471
Primary school transport: £32,984



Police AOL: Potential for unintentional damage to parked cars from ball games; pedestrian link to
east should be overlooked for natural surveillance. Rear gates should be lockable from both sides.
Adequate parking should be provided with minimal reliance on tandem or garage parking.

Page 8



Historic England: Raise concerns as to whether clear and convincing justification has been provided
for selection of this site over any other alternatives throughout the neighbourhood plan process and
recommends that the LPA:
Be satisfied that the site is the most appropriate for the delivery of housing taking into account the
historic environment
Be satisfied that the number of houses proposed can be accommodated within the site taking into
account the setting of the heritage assets
Ensure that all opportunities to avoid or mitigate harm to the designated heritage assets have been
designed into the scheme and that there is an appropriate level of screening for the development in
views from and surrounding the nationally designated well site.
Ensure that if harm is identified that the LPA is satisfied this harm is clearly and convincingly justified
and weighed against public benefits
Consider if there are opportunities to deliver benefits to sustain or enhance the SAM’s significant



SHDC Trees: No objection



SHDC OSSR: No objection subject to a 106 agreement to secure on – going access to and
management of the open space and subject to a financial contribution of £39,591 towards
improvements to OSSR facilities at St Ann’s Chapel Recreation Ground



DCC Flood Risk: No in principle objection subject to conditions



DCC Archaeology: No comments to make but recommends consultation with Historic England
regarding potential impact on setting of Scheduled Monument



Natural England: No objection



RSPB: No objection subject to additional mitigation measures



SWW: No objection



Town/Parish Council: Support – Bigbury Parish Council have been fully involved in the evolution of
this application and confirm they fully support

Representations:
2 letters of objection have been submitted raising concerns including the following:











Bigbury Neighbourhood Plan has no weight.
This is major dev in the AONB.
Not identified as a sustainable settlement in the JLP.
Design and Access Statement is wrong.
Should be advertised as departure
Overdevelopment of the village – there are 2 permissions for 12 dwellings in the village already
Residents may walk along the main road to access the village – this is dangerous
Children will have to cross a busy junction to get to the school bus stop
There has been no long term assessment of traffic flow and speed though the village
Traffic congestion already occurs – how will emergency access be ensured?

Page 9







Will light pollution occur – impacts on wildlife and views from neighbour
Trees and hedgerows have been unlawfully removed already without permission of the
landowner
The Parish are giving little importance the Holy Well ancient monument
DCC are requiring black tarmac – SHDC has promised a permeable surface in keeping with the
area
Cladding has been removed to cut costs – SHDC had promised no ugly development

1 letter of support raising the following matters:



Will enhance village and support local businesses
Will help local people afford to stay in the area

Relevant Planning History
05/2557/13/F – Two new dwellings at land adjacent to Holywell Stores, St Ann’s Chapel – Conditional
Approval 12/9/14
4120/17/FUL – 4 No new dwellings, vehicular access and public realm improvements at land East of
the Pickwick Inn, St Ann’s Chapel – Conditional Approval
4097/16/OPA for circa 8 dwellings, open space and associated infrastructure with all matters
reserved, at site at SX 663 471, St Ann’s Chapel, granted at appeal in Feb 2018
ANALYSIS
Principle of Development/Sustainability:
The starting point for consideration is the development plan and the requirement Section 38(6) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 that decisions made should be in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The Development Plan
The proposed development would need to be in conformity with the recently adopted Plymouth and
South West Devon Joint Local Plan (JLP) to be acceptable in principal.
The site lies within the village of St Ann’s Chapel, within the South Devon AONB. The JLP does not
identify St Ann’s Chapel as being a village that can accommodate further development, therefore
each application within the village should be considered on its own merits and in the absence of any
presumption in favour of development. Any proposal must be able to demonstrate that it is
sustainable and in particular should comply with Policy DEV25 which seeks to protect the AONB.
Despite its small size St Ann’s Chapel contains a pub, shop with post office, village hall and children’s
playground; the village is closely associated with other settlements in the area in particular Bigbury.
There is a weekly public bus service and school buses collect children from the village.
The evidence base to the JLP considered the sustainability parameters of villages within the local
plan area and St Ann’s Chapel was identified as being sustainable in terms of location and facilities.
The application site is in close proximity to the village centre. The location of the application site is
considered to be sustainable with regards to access to local services and school transport.
Policy TTV1 of the JLP states that development within villages such as St Ann’s Chapel will only be
permitted if it can be demonstrated to support the principles of sustainable development and

Page 10

sustainable communities (Policies SPT1 and SPT2) including as provided for in Policies TTV26
(Development in the Countryside) and TTV27 (Meeting Housing Need in Rural Areas).
Policy SPT1 supports growth and change that accords with the following principles of sustainable
development:
a sustainable economy;
a sustainable society;
a sustainable environment.
Policy SPT2 sets out a number of criteria against which development proposals should be assessed
where development should:
1. Have reasonable access to a vibrant mixed use centre, which meets daily community needs for
local services such as neighbourhood shops, health and wellbeing services and community facilities,
and includes where appropriate dual uses of facilities in community hubs.
2. Provide for higher density living appropriate to the local area in the areas that are best connected to
sustainable transport, services and amenities, as well as appropriate opportunities for home working,
reducing the need to travel.
3. Have high levels of digital connectivity, supporting local communities and businesses and enabling
data to be open, shared and used to better understand the area.
4. Have a good balance of housing types and tenures to support a range of household sizes, ages
and incomes to meet identified housing needs.
5. Promote resilience to future change by ensuring a well-balanced demographic profile with equal
access to housing and services.
6. Are well served by public transport, walking and cycling opportunities. Spatial Strategy
7. Have a safe, accessible, healthy and wildlife-rich local environment, with well-designed public and
natural spaces that are family friendly and welcoming to all.
8. Have services and facilities that promote equality and inclusion and that provide for all sectors of
the local population.
9. Have the appropriate level of facilities to meet the identified needs of the local community, including
provision of education and training opportunities, employment uses, health care, arts, culture,
community facilities, open space, sport and recreation, and places of worship.
10. Provide a positive sense of place and identity, including through the recognition of good quality
design, unique character, the role of culture, and the protection and enhancement of the natural and
historic environment.
11. Explore opportunities for the use of renewable energy, including community energy schemes
where appropriate, and reduce the use of energy through design and energy efficiency.
12. Provide positive outcomes in relation to the characteristics, aspirations and measurable standards
set out through any supplementary planning document linked to this plan.
Policy TTV2 states that Policy DEV25 (Nationally Protected Landscapes) sets out the policy approach
to considering development proposals in the AONB.
Policy TTV26 relates to development in the Countryside. The site is not isolated therefore part 1 of
this policy does not apply. Other TTV26 policy requirements are as follows:
Development proposals should, where appropriate:
i. Protect and improve public rights of way and bridleways.
ii. Re-use traditional buildings that are structurally sound enough for renovation without significant
enhancement or alteration.
iii. Be complementary to and not prejudice any viable agricultural operations on a farm and other
existing viable uses.
iv. Respond to a proven agricultural, forestry and other occupational need that requires a countryside
location.

Page 11

v. Avoid the use of Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land.
vi. Help enhance the immediate setting of the site and include a management plan and exit strategy
that demonstrates how long term degradation of the landscape and natural environment will be
avoided.
Policy TTV27, Meeting Local Housing Needs in Rural Areas is particularly relevant to this application
and the policy states the following:
Proposals for residential development on sites adjoining or very near to an existing settlement which
would not otherwise be released for this purpose may be permitted provided that it can be
demonstrated that:
1. It meets a proven need for affordable housing for local people.
2. It includes a mix of affordable and market housing products where necessary to be financially
viable. This includes open market housing, providing it does not represent more than 40% of the
homes or 40% of the land take excluding infrastructure and services.
3. Management of the scheme will ensure that the dwellings continue to meet the identified need in
perpetuity.
4. The proposal meets the requirement of all other relevant policies of the Plan
The key policy tests regarding the principal of development are therefore whether the proposed
development meets the tests of policies SPT1, SPT2, DEV25 and TTV27. Also of particular
relevance is Policy DEV21 which considers development affecting the historic environment.
Bigbury Neighbourhood Plan
The Bigbury Neighbourhood Plan (BNP) is at a reasonably advanced stage being at Regulation 15
stage but still carries limited weight until it has been examined.
The BNP includes details of a recent housing needs survey undertaken for the parish; the results of
this survey were used to support a search for a suitable site to deliver mainly affordable housing
within the parish. A number of sites were assessed in detail and a public consultation process
undertaken. The preferred site resulting from this process is the application site which is identified for
13 dwellings within the emerging BNP under emerging Policy BP1.
Policy BP1 states that provision will be made for the development of a maximum of 13 dwellings
on the site to the rear of the Holywell Stores. At least 60% of the dwellings will be affordable and
include a range of two and three bedroom properties including some bungalows. The highways
access should be from the B3392 to the north of St Ann’s Chapel and a pedestrian link should be
provided to link into Holwell Lane to provide safe and easy access to the Holywell Stores and the
school bus stop in front of the store. A pedestrian link to the Hilltop development should also be
provided to enable safe access to the Memorial Hall, children’s playground and playing fields and
the other school bus stop. An area of public open space should be provided on site to serve the
needs of the residents.
The BNP also proposes a principal residence policy whereby any new dwellings within the parish
should be restricted to occupation as a primary residence only, this is to prevent to loss of new build
dwellings to second/holiday homes as this is a problem in the area.
A detailed assessment of the application is required to assess if it complies with the Local Plan, the
Neighbourhood Plan and National Planning Policy Guidance
Landscape
The application site is located within the South Devon AONB where JLP Policy DEV 25 requires, inter
alia, that the LPA will:

Page 12








Refuse permission for major developments within protected landscapes, except in exceptional
circumstances and where it can be demonstrated that they are in the public interest.
Give great weight to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in the protected landscapes.
Require development proposals located within or within the setting of a protected landscape to
conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the protected landscape with particular reference
to their special qualities and distinctive characteristics or valued attributes
Assess their direct, indirect and cumulative impacts on natural beauty.
Support proposals which are appropriate to the economic, social and environmental wellbeing
of the area or desirable for the understanding and enjoyment of the area.
Conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the protected landscape with particular reference
to their special qualities and distinctive characteristics or valued attributes.

This is consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework, 2019 which at para 172 states that:
Great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in National
Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest status of
protection in relation to these issues……The scale and extent of development within these designated
areas should be limited. Planning permission should be refused for major development other than in
exceptional circumstances, and where it can be demonstrated that the development is in the public
interest.
The landscape impact of the development proposal has been considered by the Council’s Landscape
Specialist who has commented as follows:
In considering this application and assessing potential impacts of the development proposal against
nationally protected landscapes, in addition to the Development Plan, the following legislation, policies
and guidance have been considered:

Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way (CRoW) Act;

Sections 12 and 15 of the NPPF in particular paragraphs; 127, and 170, 172 & 173;

The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) particularly Section 8-001 to 8-006
Landscape; and

JLP Polices Dev23 and Dev25

The South Devon AONB Management Plan and its Annexes.

on

In respect of the principle policy tests in the NPPF, this application is considered to constitute “major
development” in the context of paragraph 172, due to form, scale and nature. In line with paragraph
172, it will be necessary to consider whether there are any exceptional circumstances that weigh
against the presumption of refusal contained within this paragraph, and whether the proposal is in the
public interest. As set out below, there are considered to be detrimental effects on the landscape and
environment of the AONB that should be given great weight in the planning balance.
Landscape comments
The proposed development is for 13 new dwellings on the immediate north-east boundary of St Ann’s
Chapel, within a neighbouring agricultural field; it is within the South Devon Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty. Located within the Devon Landscape Character Area – Bigbury Bay Coastal Plateau
and Local Character Type - 1B: Open coastal plateau, key characteristics are present locally and
reflect the special qualities and high sensitivity of the protected landscape.
The application is supported with a Landscape Appraisal Report (Rathbone Partnership; dated
04.12.2018) and covers landscape character, visual amenity and planned mitigation. This report has
been reviewed in the context of the application and location. The report appears sound and wellreasoned, identifying the high sensitivity of the landscape, and the cumulative impacts of the
proposed new dwellings and the resulting adverse effects on the village and local landscape;

Page 13

importantly this is also relevant in the context of other recently approved schemes and already
delivered dwellings within St Ann’s Chapel as a whole. Officers broadly concur with the report and its
assessment, findings and conclusion.
The proposed development is located within a sensitive landscape which is given the highest level of
protection; recognised for its natural beauty and special qualities. The local landscape is gently
undulating with views opening up as routes are travelled to the sea and inland to Dartmoor. Fields
are medium to large in size, and edged by low cut Devon hedgerows. Farmsteads are scattered and
nestle into the dips as with Holwell Farm to the east, sitting low down at the head of Challon’s combe.
In some contrast to this, St Ann’s Chapel is more prominent within skyline views when seen across
the wider plateau landscape. The special qualities and features include distinctive, unspoilt, and very
exposed skylines.
As noted, the anticipated impacts of the development are recognised and overall, are considered to
have a moderate, adverse harmful effect on the landscape character and local visual amenity.
However, considerable thought has been given to mitigate these impacts to ensure identified harm is
limited, with some positive attributes and outcomes in order to achieve enhancements. This is
reflected in the style of the buildings, the layout and choice of materials, and also importantly, within
the proposed landscape designs. The landscape scheme includes the introduction of new Devon
hedgebanks, slightly elevated dense boundary tree planting and internal landscape features and
green spaces. Whilst the landscape proposals makes a positive contribution to mitigating the new
development, it also contributes to mitigating recent other developments which are considered to
have harmful visual impacts, and therefore similarly benefit from the new screen planting and better
assimilation into the landscape and fringes of the village.
In summary, the overall impacts of the proposed development are recognised as negative and as a
consequence fail to conserve and enhance the landscape character and visual amenity. This is
contrary to landscape policies Dev 23 and Dev 25, and therefore the development cannot be
supported on landscape grounds. However, officers recognise the well-considered design and levels
of mitigation which will contribute to reducing these adverse impacts, and similarly those arising from
more contemporary development on the fringes of the village. It is also understood that a number of
other sites have been considered for delivering this form of community housing, and the impact on
landscape was believed to be greater. Should officers be minded to approve this current proposed
development, any harm will need to be balanced against the identified exceptional public interest and
Parish support, where the tests of Para 172 are met.
Assessment as major development in the AONB
The Landscape assessment concludes that the proposed development represents major
development in the AONB and as such the application needs to be assessed against the criteria set
out in in para 172 of the NPPF:
a) the need for the development, including in terms of any national considerations, and the impact of
permitting it, or refusing it, upon the local economy;
A housing needs survey undertaken to inform the BNP led the NP steering group to look for a site for
10-12 affordable houses within the parish, it was acknowledged that some market housing may be
required for viability. Increasing demand for holiday homes in the area has impacted on house prices
increasing the need for the delivery of affordable dwellings for local people.
There are two extant but unimplemented planning consents for housing in St Ann’s Chapel,
4120/17/FUL delivering 4 open market dwellings in the centre of the village with no provision for
affordable housing and 4097/16/OPA for circa 8 dwellings, open space and associated infrastructure
with all matters reserved, at site at SX 663 471, St Ann’s Chapel, granted at appeal in Feb 2018
subject to a S.106 undertaking to provide either 30% of the dwellings (2.4 units) on site as affordable
homes or an equivalent off site financial contribution.

Page 14

Neither of these two permitted schemes guarantee the provision of on-site affordable homes and
even if the scheme for 8 dwellings were to provide on-site units this would equate to only 2 dwellings.
The local need has been identified as 10-12 units.
There is therefore a clear unmet demand for affordable homes within the Parish of Bigbury.
The new dwellings would help to support existing local facilities to the benefit of the local economy.
b) the cost of, and scope for, developing outside the designated area, or meeting the need for it in
some other way;
The entire parish of Bigbury is washed over by the ANOB and much of it is also designated as
Undeveloped Coast where there is an even greater restriction on development. It would not be
possible to provide for the housing needs of the parish outside of the AONB; elsewhere in the parish
such as at Bigbury the combined AONB and Undeveloped Coast designation would likely result in a
more harmful development.
c) any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational opportunities, and the
extent to which that could be moderated.
In the search for sites the NP steering group considered a variety of possible sites assessing sites
constraints including those listed above. As will be expended on below the only detrimental impacts
arising from the selected development is a moderate harmful landscape impact as a consequence of
additional built form on the edge of the village. The impacts however are moderated through sensitive
design and landscaping.
The proposed major development in considered to meet the criteria set out in para 172 of the NPPF.
Nevertheless there will be some harm to the AONB notwithstanding the sensitive design and
mitigation of the existing unsympathetic development to the south. This needs to weighed against
any benefits arising from the development
Design
The design approach is described in the supporting Design and Access Statement. The aim has
been to provide a rural cluster of buildings of a variety of heights and forms to add interest and
prevent uncharacteristic uniformity in this small village that has evolved organically over time. The
scheme includes single and two storey dwellings, detached and semi-detached. Materials include
render, natural stone and natural slate. Some timber cladding is proposed; this does not form part of
the local vernacular except on outbuildings, so its use on principal elevations has been limited.
Natural timber is generally a more recessive material than painted render within the rural landscape
however so rear elevations facing out to the countryside still incorporate timber cladding to soften the
visual impact of the development.
The density of the development is appropriate for this rural setting and the dwellings are set around a
central green public open space. Public open space is limited in St Ann’s Chapel where the village
core is currently dominated by vehicles; this new area will be a positive, tranquil amenity feature for
the village.
Pedestrian access is provided onto Holywell Road which links into pedestrian routes to the village hall
and play area and provides safer access to the village shop and school bus pick up area, it also helps
to integrate the new village into the village by creating through passage for walkers.

Page 15

The proposed development proposes low carbon, passive house standard construction, the details of
which are described in the Design and Access Statement. The proposed development is considered
to accord with the principles of Policy DEV32 (Delivering low carbon development) of the JLP.
The mix of house size, type and tenure responds to the results of the local housing needs survey and
is considered to be appropriate, in accordance with Policy DEV8 (Meeting local housing need in the
thriving towns and villages policy area) of the JLP
Adequate private and public outdoor amenity space is provided.
Due to possible noise nuisance from cooler units at Holywell Stores an acoustic fence along the
boundary between Holywell Stores and the application site has been requested by the Council’s
Environmental Health Specialist
The design of the proposed development is considered to be acceptable and is in accordance with
Policies DEV1 (Protecting Health and Amenity), DEV8 (Meeting local housing need in the Thriving
Towns and Villages Policy Area), DEV 10 (Delivering high quality housing) and DEV 32 (Delivering
low carbon development) of the JLP.
Heritage
The application site is within the vicinity of the Pickwick Inn a grade II Listed Building. It is also
approx. 100m south west of the Holy Well Scheduled Ancient Monument. Historic England have
been consulted and have commented on this application. They helpfully set out the significance of
the designated heritage assets as follows:
The development is located within the same field, and within the setting of, the
nationally important scheduled monument (SM 33752; NHLE 1019315) and Grade II
listed building (NHLE 1309152) of the remains of a medieval holy well. The site of
the well appears as a marshy depression in the corner of the field. It measures 43m
from east to west and 58m from north to south and a scarp into the hillslope on the
west side is up to 2m high. The depression now contains two concrete tanks which
catch the water for farm purposes.
Holy wells are water sources with specifically Christian associations. The custom of
venerating springs and wells as sacred sites is also known to have characterised
pre-Christian religions in Britain and, although Christian wells have been identified
from as early as the 6th century AD, it is clear that some holy wells originated as
earlier sacred sites. The cult of holy wells continued throughout the medieval period.
Its condemnation at the time of the Reformation (c.1540) ended new foundations but
local reverence and folklore customs at existing holy wells often continued, in some
cases to the present day.
This well, dedicated to St Ann, is an unusual survival. Its design, with a sunken
reservoir, spilling out via a conduit in the side, is typical of wells whose waters were
believed to have healing powers. This is supported by the presence of the 15th
century chapel of St Ann, to the south west. The area covered by the scheduling
has the potential for undisturbed or waterlogged remains associated with the
veneration of the well.
The well lies close to other monuments associated with earlier prehistoric activity, a
Neolithic long barrow and two Bronze Age round barrows which are also scheduled
(SM 33748; NHLE 1019239). The proximity of these barrows to the holy well, its
chapel and Bigbury parish church which is 800m to the south east, suggests
continuity of a more ancient tradition of veneration in the area.

Page 16

The monument is currently published on Historic England’s Heritage At Risk Register
as a result of vulnerability due to scrub and tree growth. Its overgrown nature is
noted in the submitted documentation.
Any archaeological remains preserved on the development site potentially
associated with the holy well or the tradition of veneration over a longer period,
would make a positive contribution to the significance of the scheduled monument
and listed building. The archaeological evaluation identified ditches associated with
the extant field enclosures system, illustrating the organisation of the land around the
holy well.
Historic England note that the application as submitted does not include proposals which might offer
benefits in heritage terms to sustain or enhance this designated monument such as in the interest of
the holy well’s long term management and visual appreciation as an asset of importance to the
community.
Historic England question whether clear and convincing justification has been provided for selection of
this site over any alternative and for any harm caused to heritage assets by the scheme. Historic
England in their detailed response recommend that the LPA consider a number of issues.
In accordance with para 185 of the NPPF the LPA must be satisfied that the site represents the most
appropriate site for delivery of the required housing taking into account historic environment. Officers
have reviewed the site selection process outlined in the BNP and consider that notwithstanding the
proximity of the designated asset this is the most appropriate site for the delivery of a community
housing scheme within the Parish
Robust landscaping planting on the site boundaries and the use of sensitive design and materials will
minimise the visual impacts on the asset. The development site will be over 100m from the site of the
monument and as such it will retain its rural setting and relationship with the village. Any harm to the
setting of the monument is considered to be minimal.
In accordance with paragraphs 194 and 196 of the NPPF it is considered that any adverse impact on
the setting of this asset is justified by the delivery of much needed affordable homes within the Parish
and represents a significant public benefit that outweighs the less than substantial harm to the setting
of the asset.
It is also proposed to offset any harm through a clause within the S.106 Obligation to require a written
scheme of works to be agreed and implemented to seek to preserve and enhance the special
characteristics of the asset and to improve its legibility and understanding.
There will be no significant adverse impact on the setting of the listed Pickwick Inn
Regard has been given to section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)
Act 1990 and special regard has been given to the desirability of preserving listed buildings or their
settings or any features of special architectural or historic interest which they possess.
The impact on heritage assets is considered to be acceptable subject to the S.106 obligations
referenced above and having regard to the overriding public benefits that arise from this proposed
development. The development accords with Policy DEV21 of the JLP in that great weight has been
given to the conservation of the asset and any harm to its setting is fully justified against the public
benefits of the development and reasonable efforts have been made to mitigate the extent of harm
and to enhance the asset.

Page 17

Trees:
The application has been considered by the Council’s Tree Specialist who has commented as follows:
The site is noted as having little vegetation/ hedges/ trees/ wooded groups of any potential
arboricultural significance to the application and as such no further detail is required in accordance
with BS5837:2012 Trees in Relation to Demolition, Design & Construction
Impact on trees is considered to be acceptable.
Biodiversity
The Council’s biodiversity specialist has reviewed this application. It is noted that the application is
supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Tor Ecology, 12th Dec 2018) which recorded limited
ecological value in the site habitats, or potential likelihood of the site having significant protected
species interest.
The site comprises part of an arable field, with the field bordered by heavily managed and speciespoor hedgebanks on the north, south and west boundaries. Boundary features (notably access track
bordered by hedgebanks to the south east) have some potential for use by foraging and commuting
bats. The site has some potential for supporting nesting birds, and reptiles (in the wider field).
The ecological appraisal includes a range of proposals which can enhance biodiversity value at this
site, including:
-

New hedgebanks on the north and eastern boundaries of the site (to be managed in
accordance with a LEMP)
Bird and bat boxes, and bee bricks integrated into fabric of new dwellings
Enhancements to southern boundaries with new planting and improved management
Species-rich meadow planting and SUDS feature with wet meadow planting
Fruit tree planting
Log pile for reptiles and small mammals

The proposal can be considered to be policy compliant, with respect to protecting and enhancing
habitats, and NPPF para 175.
It is recommend planning conditions requiring the submission of a CEMP and LEMP be applied. It is
also commented that due consideration should be given within the LEMP to the ongoing management
of the newly planted hedgerow, and avoiding/minimising potential for resident interference with the
hedgerow – i.e. to ensure it can be managed holistically to maximise wildlife value. (E.g. by excluding
from curtilages, or erected a post and wire fence set back from the new hedgerow).
The RSPB have reviewed the application and recommend a few amendments and additions:





Recommend provision of integral nest sites (`swift bricks’) at a minimum ratio of one per
dwelling.
Recommend the retained and new boundary hedges around the site do not become garden
boundaries and so are not subject to potential mis-management by householders (eg, removal
of hedge plants, inappropriate planting and management, dumping of garden rubbish). It may
be that a wire fence between the new properties and boundary hedges can avoid this – growth
through the fence can be removed by the householder, but vegetation on the field side of the
hedge would be unaffected.
Recommend that retained and created hedges are planted and managed to continue to be
hedges, rather than linear woodlands. Additional planting should be to create thick hedges

Page 18





with hedgerow trees. Management will be difficult if the boundaries become dense linear
woodlands, and this will also not be suitable for cirl buntings or other hedge nesting species.
Recommend garden boundaries are made permeable, ideally via garden hedges between
properties but if fences are used, these should have at least one `hedgehog’ sized hole at the
base to allow hedgehogs to pass through (hedgehogs are a species of concern due to
population declines, they will use gardens but must be able to move between gardens as they
travel an average distance of 2km each night when foraging, or looking for a mate).
Recommend additionally that any planning permission is accompanied by a planning
obligation that requires enhanced management of the remainder of the boundary hedges in
this arable field. The annually and very closely flailed hedges could be managed to have
wildlife value (ie, not cut annually and not cut so close to the bank/ground). While the
boundary hedges of the arable field, including at the application site, are not currently suitable
for cirl buntings, this priority species is recorded breeding within 2km. The arable field may
have some value for foraging cirl buntings in winter due to its current management (barley and
grass ley, and then left fallow over winter) providing a seed source, but currently the boundary
hedges do not provide the shelter that wintering (and nesting) cirl buntings and other birds
need.

The application states that street lighting will not be provided and this will beneficial to biodiversity.
Biodiversity impacts are considered to be acceptable with enhancement arising from the additional
hedgerows to be provided and additional measures cited above.
Neighbour Amenity:
Two dwellings north of Holywell Stores are in close proximity to the development site. A parcel of
land adjoining their rear gardens, to the north east is excluded from the application site and is
indicated as open space (not accessible by the public). This non-public open space is then adjoined
by the public open space serving the new proposed development, this creates a significant separation
distance between the rear of the existing dwellings and the nearest new dwellings to the north east.
The applicant has advised that the non-public space is provided as a buffer to minimise impacts on
the existing neighbours.
Proposed plots 13 and 14 are located approx. 35m north of existing property Oakland. Plots 13 and
14 initially included full height first floor bedroom windows facing towards the garden of Oakland. Full
height windows however can be more intrusive than standard height windows. As such the scheme
has been amended to reduce the height of clear glazing. With the amendments and having regard to
the separation distance and proposed landscaping along this boundary, the relationship in terms of
overlooking is considered to be acceptable.
Impacts on neighbour amenity is acceptable and accords with JLP policy DEV1
Highways/Access:
The application has been assessed by DCC Highway Authority. The scheme originally included
impermeable block paviours as a road surface within the development. The road is intended for
adoption. DCC Highways have stated that they would not wish to adopt a road with a surface other
than black tarmac, this being the most efficient and cost effective surface to maintain at a time when
budgets are increasingly restricted.
The scheme has been amended to propose a black tarmac road surface and this is consistent with all
the other adopted road surfaces within the village.
Each dwellings has a minimum of 2 parking spaces provided which is considered adequate.

Page 19

A local residents has raised an objection on the grounds of additional traffic congestion and highway
safety risk for pedestrians. DCC Highway Authority raise no objection on grounds of highway
capacity or congestion and raise no objection regarding pedestrian safety. The proposed
development proposes a pedestrian link onto Holywell Road, it joins the road where there is adequate
visibility and it is possible to cross directly onto a safe route to the village hall and play area, it is also
a very short walk to the shop. It is noted that to reach the shop and school bus pick up it is necessary
to walk along a section of road with no footway. The historic core of St Ann’s Chapel has no
footpaths however and locating the development on the east side of the B3392 means new residents
will not have to cross the B3392, the busiest road in the village, to access the shop and bus stop.
The Highway Authority in their last formal response at the time of drafting this report have objected to
this application due to a number of technical matters they require to be addressed. It appears that all
the matters have been addressed but this has not been formally confirmed by DCC. A verbal update
on this matter will be provided to the committee.
Drainage:
The application has been assessed by DCC as Lead Local Flood Authority and they have commented
as follows:
The applicant has put forward a feasible surface water drainage strategy which proposes infiltration
based techniques which are the preferred method of surface water disposal as per the surface water
management hierarchy. Please note we would require additional infiltration testing to BRE 365 at the
proposed depth of the soakaway devices as well as at the proposed location. We also have a
requirement for one years’ worth of groundwater monitoring when infiltration is proposed in line with
Ciria SUDS Manual C753 and BRE 365.
The propose strategy also includes the use of a pond which will provide an element of amenity and
biodiversity to the wider site. We would also recommend that permeable paving is brought forward at
the detailed design stage.
We note that the net developable area was used during the greenfield runoff calculation which does
not comply with our Devon County Council SuDS Guidance (2017). If further infiltration testing or
groundwater monitoring rules out the use of infiltration and an attenuated system is proposed, the
runoff rates would require revision.
It is concluded that the proposed development can be adequately drained.
Open Space Sport and Recreation
The application has been reviewed by the Council’s relevant specialist who has commented as
follows:
SHDC Core Strategy Policy CS8 and SHDC Development Plan Policies DPD (2010) policy DP8 set
out the rationale for seeking OSSR provisions as key infrastructure for securing the delivery of
sustainable development and meeting the various needs of the community. Levels of reasonable
contributions based upon existing deficiencies and future demand for various OSSR provisions are
detailed within the SHDC OSSR Supplementary Planning Document (2006).
The application is for the provision of 13 dwellings. The site plan shows the provision of a centrally
located public open space and it is considered that this will provide good amenity benefit for new
residents, as well as providing opportunities for informal play. The s106 agreement should secure
public access, and on-going management and maintenance, of the on-site public open space in
perpetuity.

Page 20

The site is unable to provide equipped play and sports facilities in line with policy. However, the new
residents will generate increased pressure on existing off site facilities.
The nearest OSSR facilities are in close proximity to the development site at St Ann’s Chapel
Recreation Ground, adjacent to the village hall. The facilities comprise a football field, play area and
skate park. The recent play audit, undertaken in 2017 as part of the evidence base for the Joint Local
Plan, scores both the skate park and play area as 2 out of 5 (weaknesses, needs improvement)
noting that the site is tired, new equipment is required and the skate area could also be improved. The
Greenspace Audit, also undertaken as part of the evidence base for the Joint Local Plan, also notes
the site is under invested with poor quality youth/community recreation facilities including junior
goalposts in need of investment.
New residents would add pressure to these facilities, which have already been identified as in need of
improvement, and the pressure would require mitigating to assist with making it sustainable.
A financial contribution would thus be required in accordance with the SHDC OSSR SPD (2006).
Applying Tables 3 and 6 of the SHDC OSSR SPD (2006), and based on the provision of 7 x 2 bed
and 6 x 3 bed dwellings as shown in the Design and Access Statement, the contribution to be secured
via the s106 agreement would be as follows:


£39,591 towards ‘improvements to OSSR facilities at St Ann’s Chapel Recreation Ground’

It is noted that the scheme provides significant affordable housing and thus contributions may affect
the viability of the scheme. It is understood that the requested contribution will need to be assessed
and considered in the overall planning balance between providing affordable housing and locally
improved facilities to accommodate additional use by new residents.
Since submitting this application a representative from the Parish Council has advised that the Parish
Council have identified alternative means of funding improvements to the recreation ground and
mindful of the impacts on viability of delivering truly affordable homes within the parish they would not
object to this scheme not making financial contributions towards the recreation ground.
Viability
Devon County Council Education Authority have, as is usual in SHDC, requested contributions taking
into account all 13 of the proposed new units. They have been asked to consider taking contributions
for just the 5 market units and have responded as follows:
While Devon County Council would request for all 13 family units and would ideally be supported for
full contributions we understand that viability issues on sites can affect our requests and ultimately the
decision to support our contributions rests with the district council.
In the scenario that DCC would not be supported for contributions against the Affordable Housing
units within the St Ann’s Chapel, development, the following contributions would be requested.
Secondary – £16,440
Primary Transport – £16,492
Secondary Transport – £6,735
Overall then the scheme has been identified to make the following financial contributions:
St Ann’s Chapel recreation ground improvements: £39,591
Education (infrastructure and transport) for all 13 units: £89,200
Or

Page 21

Education contributions for the 5 market units only: £39,667
The applicant is seeking to deliver a community housing project which will offer truly affordable homes
within the parish.
In ‘standard’ commercial residential schemes affordable rents are normally 80% of market rate and
discounted sale affordable homes sold with a 20% discount of market rate.
The proposal in this case is that the 5 rented units will be let at less than Local Housing Allowance
rents which represent circa 60% of market rental value.
On the 3 discounted purchase units the discount of market value will depend on the amount of
educations contributions payable as follows:




No education contribution – 40 – 45% discount of market value
With £39,667 education contribution – 35%-40% discount of market value
With full education contribution of £89,200 – 30-35% discount of market value but the
applicant considers this could tip the balance in terms of affordability to in excess of 200K
for a 2 bed and 240k for a 3 bed.

These calculations assume no contribution is being made towards OSSR on the basis that it is
indicated that there are funds for the local recreation ground already identified.
This is a difficult balance where there is a valid aim of minimising house prices of the affordable units
but to be sustainable the development must be able to deliver necessary supporting infrastructure.
On this basis officers recommend that this application be approved subject to a contribution towards
education based on the 5 market homes only, which would result in the discount market homes being
sold with a discount of 35-40% of market value.
Principal residency restrictions
The emerging BNP at Policy BP4 proposes a policy whereby new market homes will only be
approved where they are subject to a Section 106 Obligation to ensure occupancy as a principal
residence.
The JLP does not contain such a policy therefore this Council could only apply this policy when it is in
a made Neighbourhood plan. The BNP does not currently carry sufficient weight for this Council to be
able to apply this policy.
The applicant has indicated an intent to invoke this clause through a condition of sale, but this would
be outside of the planning process.
Planning Balance
The proposed development is contrary to Policy DEV 25 and the NPPF in that it does not conserve
and enhance the AONB, it will result in moderate landscape harm, mitigated to some extent by the
sympathetic design of the scheme and robust landscaping which will help to screen the
unsympathetic harsh landscape impact of the two new houses that adjoin the site. Great weight
should be given to conserving and enhancing the AONB.
The adverse landscape impact indicates that the proposed development does not pass the
environmental test of sustainable and therefore this unallocated development is not a proposal that
would normally be considered acceptable.
Policy TTV27 however states that proposals for residential development on sites adjoining or very
near to an existing settlement which would not otherwise be released for this purpose may be

Page 22

permitted provided a number of criteria are met. The proposed development meets all of these
criteria in that:





It meets a proven need for affordable housing for local people
It includes a mix of affordable and market housing products where necessary to be financially
viable. This includes open market housing, of no more than 40% of the homes or 40% of the
land take excluding infrastructure and services.
Management of the scheme will ensure that the dwellings continue to meet the identified need
in perpetuity.
The proposal meets the requirement of all other relevant policies of the Plan

In addition the proposed development will provide affordable housing that is discounted much more
significantly than in standard commercial schemes.
The proposed development is in accordance with Policy TTV27.
The proposed development will deliver a high quality development of truly affordable homes for which
there is an identified need and will lead to enhancement of the nearby scheduled ancient monument
which is currently on the ‘at risk’ register. The significant benefits of this development outweigh the
moderate landscape impact and as such it is recommended that planning permission be granted.
This application has been considered in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning &
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and with Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.
Planning Policy
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the
development plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the 2004
Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in accordance with
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For the purposes of decision
making, as of March 26th 2019, the development plan for Plymouth City Council, South Hams District
Council and West Devon Borough Council (other than parts South Hams and West Devon within
Dartmoor National Park) comprises the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034.
Following adoption of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan by all three of the
component authorities, monitoring will be undertaken at a whole plan level. At the whole plan level,
the combined authorities have a Housing Delivery Test percentage of 166%. This requires a 5%
buffer to be applied for the purposes of calculating a 5 year land supply at a whole plan level. When
applying the 5% buffer, the combined authorities can demonstrate a 5-year land supply of 6.5 years at
the point of adoption.
Adopted policy names and numbers may have changed since the publication of the Main
Modifications version of the JLP.
The relevant development plan policies are set out below:
The Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by South Hams District
Council on March 21st 2019 and West Devon Borough Council on March 26th 2019.
SPT1 Delivering sustainable development
SPT2 Sustainable linked neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities
SPT3 Provision for new homes
SPT11 Strategic approach to the Historic environment

Page 23

SPT12 Strategic approach to the natural environment
SPT14 European Sites – mitigation of recreational impacts of development
TTV1 Prioritising growth through a hierarchy of sustainable settlements
TTV2 Delivering sustainable development in the Thriving Towns and Villages Policy Area
TTV26 Development in the Countryside
TTV27 Meeting local housing needs in rural areas
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity
DEV2 Air, water, soil, noise, land and light
DEV3 Sport and recreation
DEV4 Playing pitches
DEV5 Community food growing and allotments
DEV8 Meeting local housing need in the Thriving Towns and Villages Policy Area
DEV9 Meeting local housing need in the Plan Area
DEV10 Delivering high quality housing
DEV20 Place shaping and the quality of the built environment
DEV21 Development affecting the historic environment
DEV23 Landscape character
DEV25 Nationally protected landscapes
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation
DEV27 Green and play spaces
DEV28 Trees, woodlands and hedgerows
DEV29 Specific provisions relating to transport
DEV30 Meeting the community infrastructure needs of new homes
DEV31 Waste management
DEV32 Delivering low carbon development
DEV35 Managing flood risk and Water Quality Impacts
DEL1 Approach to development delivery and viability, planning obligations and the Community
Infrastructure Levy
Neighbourhood Plan
Bigbury Neighbourhood Plan – Regulation 15 stage
Considerations under Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 have been taken into account
in reaching the recommendation contained in this report.
Proposed conditions in full
1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration
of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 as amended
by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. The development hereby approved shall in all respects accord strictly with drawing numbers:
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is carried out in accordance with the
drawings forming part of the application to which this approval relates.
3. Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and
approved a Construction Management Plan (CMP) including:
(a) the timetable of the works;
(b) daily hours of construction;
(c) any road closure;

Page 24

(d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with
such vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays
inc.; 9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on
Sundays and Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority
in advance;
(e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and
the frequency of their visits;
(f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts,
crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction
phases;
(g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building
materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with
confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for
loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local
Planning Authority;
(h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site;
(i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and
(j) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit
construction staff vehicles parking off-site
(k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations
(l) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes.
(m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking.
(n) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement
of any work;
(o)Details of noise impacts and controls
(p)Dust impact assessment and proposed control in accordance with the Institute of Air Quality
Management guidance for dust assessment from construction sites
This approved CEMP shall be strictly adhered to during the construction of the development
hereby permitted, unless variation is approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In interests of the safety and convenience of users of the highway, the in interests of
residential amenity and in the interests of biodiversity.
This needs to be a pre-commencement condition as the agreed details need to be implemented
immediately upon commencement of development or prior to the commencement of
development.
4. Prior to the commencement of development a Landscape Ecological Management Plan
(LEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
LEMP shall include:








plans showing locations of individually planted trees, shrubs, hedges and areas of grass,
including details of boundary treatment and soft landscaping to the Site, vegetation screening
and fencing;
Details of the infiltration basin and landscaping to be designed to maximise biodiversity;
Details of the design and location of all swift boxes and bat tubes/boxes
Details of measures to protect and enhance habitat.
Details of the phasing of landscaping works across the development site; and
Details of management and maintenance responsibilities for the landscaped areas including
monitoring of protected species
Details of lighting to be used on site within the construction and operational phases of
development to minimise impacts on protected species

The approved LEMP shall be strictly adhered to during the construction and operational phases of the
development hereby permitted, unless variation is approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 25

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity.
This needs to be a prior commencement condition to ensure proper measures to protect biodiversity
are put in place before any work is done on site
5. Notwithstanding any details indicated on the approved plans, prior to their installation details /
samples of facing materials, and of roofing materials to be used in the construction of the proposed
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The roofs
of all dwelling houses shall be constructed using natural slate roofs, nailed in the traditional way and
not clipped, with slate material samples to be submitted to and agreed with the Local Planning
Authority.
The development shall then be carried out in accordance with those samples as approved.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.
6. Prior to the excavation of any footings of the dwellings hereby approved details of the finished floor
levels and levels of all external works including outdoor amenity areas shall have previously been
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall take place in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity
7. Details of the proposed new boundary treatments, including garden gates, shall be submitted to and
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to their installation and shall be implemented
prior to first occupation/use of the dwelling(s) to which they relate. The details shall indicate how
boundaries will be permeable to wildlife and how they will provide protection of existing and proposed
boundary hedgerows and tree planting.
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and biodiversity in order to protect and enhance the amenities
of the site and locality.
8. Prior to the first planting season following commencement of the development hard and soft
landscaping details which shall include detailed landscape designs and specifications for the site shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The landscape designs and specifications shall include the following:
(a) Full details of planting plans and written specifications, including cultivation proposals for
maintenance and management associated with plant and grass establishment, details of the mix,
size, distribution, density and levels of all trees/hedges/shrubs to be planted and the proposed time of
planting. The planting plan shall use botanic names to avoid misinterpretation. The plans should
include a full schedule of plants;
(b) 1:200 plans (or at a scale otherwise agreed) with cross-sections of mounding, ponds, ditches and
swales and proposed treatment of the edges and perimeters of the site;
(c) The landscape treatment of roads through the development;
(d) A specification for the establishment of trees within hard landscaped areas including details of
space standards;
(e) Details of changes of level across the site to be carried out.
(f) Details of ground preparation prior to importation of topsoil, including decompaction of material and
removal of any debris including plastic, wood, rock and stone greater in size than 50mm in any
dimension;
(g) Arrangements for stripping, storage and re-use of top soil;
(h) Arrangements for importation of top soil if proposed, including volume, source, quality, depth and
areas to be treated;

Page 26

(i) Details of earthworks associated with the development, including volumes of any cut and fill and
arrangements for disposal of any excess excavated material or importation of material;
(j) Details, including design and materials, of ancillary structures such as bin stores and signage;
(l) A timetable for the implementation of all hard and soft landscape treatment
All hardsurfacing, planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping, shall
be carried out in accordance with the approved timetable for implementation. Any trees or plants which,
within a period of 5 years from the completion of any phase of the development, die, are removed or
become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of
similar size and species as those originally planted, unless the local planning authority gives written
consent to any variation.
Reason: In the interests of visual and residential amenity
9. The footpath and cycleway linking the development site to Holywell Road shall be provided in
accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of the first dwelling.
Reason: In the interests of pedestrian safety
10. Vehicle Parking and turning shall be laid out in accordance with the approved plans and shall be
made available for use by occupants of the dwellings(s) to which it relates prior to the occupation of
the related dwelling(s). Parking areas, including garages, shall be retained for the primary purpose of
the parking of private vehicles only, for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: In the interests of the safety and convenience of users of the highways and in the interests of
amenity.
11. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting this Order) no
development of the types described in Classes B, C and F (hardstandings and roof
extensions/alterations) of Schedule 2 of Part 1 or within Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 (gates,
fences, walls) of the Order shall be undertaken without the express consent in writing of the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to exercise control over development which could
materially harm the character and visual amenities of the development within the locality and to
safeguard residential amenity; and to safeguard parking and circulation areas.
12. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until a programme of percolation
tests has been carried out in accordance with BRE Digest 365 Soakaway Design (2016), and the
results approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council
as the Lead Local Flood Authority. A representative number of tests should be conducted to provide
adequate coverage of the site, with particular focus placed on the locations of the proposed infiltration
devices/permeable surfaces.
Reason: To ensure that surface water from the development is discharged as high up the drainage
hierarchy as is feasible.
Reason for being a pre-commencement condition: This data is required prior to the commencement of
any works as it will affect the permanent surface water drainage management plan, which needs to be
confirmed before development takes place
13. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the detailed design of the
proposed permanent surface water drainage management system has been submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council as the
Lead Local Flood Authority. The design of this permanent surface water drainage management system

Page 27

will be informed by the programme of approved BRE Digest 365 Soakaway Design (2016) percolation
tests and in accordance with the principles set out in the Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy
December 2018 Proposed Development St Ann's Chapel, Bigbury Rev 01, 100234316-ARC-XX-XXRP-CE-1501
Reason: To ensure that surface water runoff from the development is discharged as high up the
drainage hierarchy as is feasible, and is managed in accordance with the principles of sustainable
drainage systems.
Reason for being a pre-commencement condition: A detailed permanent surface water drainage
management plan is required prior to commencement of any works to demonstrate that the plan fits
within the site layout, manages surface water safely and does not increase flood risk downstream.
Advice: Refer to Devon County Council’s Sustainable Drainage Guidance
14. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the full results of a
groundwater monitoring programme, undertaken over a period to be agreed, has been submitted to,
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council
as the Lead Local Flood Authority. This monitoring should be conducted to provide adequate
coverage of the site, with particular focus placed on the locations and depths of the proposed
infiltration devices.
Reason: To ensure that the use of infiltration devices on the site is an appropriate means of surface
water drainage management.
Reason for being a pre-commencement condition: This data is required prior to the commencement of
any works as it could affect the permanent surface water drainage management plan, which needs to
be confirmed before development takes place.
15. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the detailed design of the
proposed surface water drainage management system which will serve the development site for the
full period of its construction has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning
Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. This
temporary surface water drainage management system must satisfactorily address both the rates and
volumes, and quality, of the surface water runoff from the construction site.
Reason: To ensure that surface water runoff from the construction site is appropriately managed so
as to not increase the flood risk, or pose water quality issues, to the surrounding area.
Reason for being a pre-commencement condition: A plan needs to be demonstrated prior to the
commencement of any works to ensure that surface water can be managed suitably without
increasing flood risk downstream, negatively affecting water quality downstream or negatively
impacting on surrounding areas and infrastructure.
Advice: Refer to Devon County Council’s Sustainable Drainage Guidance
16. Prior to first occupation of any residential unit, a scheme to secure mitigation of the additional
recreational pressures upon the Tamar European Marine Site, shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented in full prior to first
occupation.
Reason: The development lies in the Zone Of Influence of the Tamar European Marine Site
(comprising the Plymouth Sound and Estuaries SAC and Tamar Estuaries Complex SPA) where it is
considered there would be a likely significant effect from this development, when taken in combination
with other plans and projects, upon these European designated sites. To ensure that the proposal
may proceed as sustainable development, there is a duty upon the Local Planning Authority to

Page 28

provide sufficient mitigation for any recreational impacts which might arise upon the European
designated sites. In coming to this decision, the Council has had regard to Regulation 63 of the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 and policies SPT12, SPT14 and DEV26 of
the proposed JLP
17. There shall be no external street lighting unless otherwise previously agreed in writing by the Local
planning Authority
Reason: In the interests of amenity and biodiversity
18. Prior to development continuing above slab level details of how a minimum of one integral bird nesting
box will be incorporated into each of the dwellings hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority
The nesting boxes shall be provided in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of
the related dwelling and shall be retained for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: In the interest of biodiversity
19. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site then
no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be
carried out until the developer has submitted, and obtained written approval from the Local Planning
Authority for, an investigation and risk assessment and, where necessary, a remediation strategy and
verification plan detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation strategy and verification plan
and prior to occupation of any part of the permitted development, a verification report demonstrating
completion of the works set out in the approved remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the
remediation shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local planning authority.
Reason: No site investigation can completely characterise a site. This condition is required to ensure
that any unexpected contamination that is uncovered during remediation or other site works is dealt
with appropriately
20. Prior to construction above slab level the applicant shall submit for approval, full details of proposed
electric vehicle charging points to be provided, these details shall include the location, number and
power rating of the charging points. This shall accord with good practice guidance on mitigating air
quality impacts from developments produced by the Institute of Air Quality Management.
This agreed scheme shall be implemented as agreed and available for use prior to first occupation of
any building approved by this permission, and retained as such.
Reason: In the interests of air quality and the environment
21. Prior to the occupation of any dwelling hereby approved details of an acoustic barrier of a minimum of
2m in height to be provided along the common boundary with Holywell Stores shall have been provided
in accordance with details previously agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Once provided
the barrier shall be retained and maintained for the lifetime of the development
Reason: In the interest of residential amenity.
22. The proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, sewers,
drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, road maintenance/vehicle overhang
margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, car parking and street furniture shall be
constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local Planning Authority in

Page 29

writing before their construction begins. For this purpose, plans and sections indicating, as
appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of construction shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure that adequate information is available for the proper consideration of the detailed
proposals and to ensure a satisfactory form of development
23. Prior to the commencement of development details showing how the existing hedges and/or trees will
be protected throughout the course of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. The details shall include a tree and hedge protection plan, in
accordance with BS:5837:2010, which shall include the precise location and design details for the
erection of protective barriers and any other physical protection measures and a method statement in
relation to construction operations in accordance with paragraph 7.2 of the British Standard.
Development of each phase shall be carried out in accordance with the approved tree and hedge
protection plan.
Reason: In the interests of visual and residential amenity.
This needs to be a pre-commencement condition to ensure the protection of the trees/hedges before
any activity commences on site.
Informative: Condition 16 can be satisfactorily addressed by means of a pre-occupation contribution
towards improved management within the Tamar European Marine Site (informed by the SAMMS list)
calculated in accordance with the following table (or any subsequent SPD approved at the time the
contribution is sought) once the dwelling mix is formalised. At that time the Applicant should contact
the Council's Development Management team to arrange payment of the contribution
Dwelling size
1 bedroom
1 bedroom flat
2 bedroom house
3 bedrooms
4 bedroom house
5 bedroom house

Contribution per dwelling
£17.16
£23.99
£31.60
£33.93
£36.76
£40.38

Page 30

Agenda Item 6b
PLANNING APPLICATION REPORT
Case Officer: Gemma Bristow

Parish: Wembury Ward: Wembury and Brixton

Application No: 2483/18/FUL [& 2484/18/LBC]
Agent/Applicant:
C Stewart
Olinda
Knoll Road
Godalming
GU7 2EP
Site Address: 1 Old Coastguard Cottages, Wembury, PL9 0EJ
Development: Construction of a new quay to improve access (resubmission of 3078/17/FUL)
Reason item is being put before Committee: Cllr D Brown called this application to committee due
to the potential for impact on the coastline, and the AONB.

Page 31

Recommendation: Delegate to Head Of Practice Development Management, in conjunction with
Chairman to conditionally grant planning permission, subject to a Section 106 legal agreement.
However, in the event that the Section 106 legal Agreement remains unsigned six months after this
resolution, that the application is reviewed by the HoP Lead Development Management, in
consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, and if no progress is being made delegated
authority is given to the HoP to refuse to application in the absence of an agreed S106 Agreement.
The Section 106 should secure the following:
To restrict the use of the quay to the storage of two access boats only.
Conditions
1. Time limit
2. In accordance with plans
3. If no longer needed to be removed
4. CEMP
5. No external lighting
6. Natural England best practice on construction on the foreshore
7. Details and sample of quay materials
8. In accordance with ecology report
9. No davit, ladder or lifting devise to be attached
10. Railings to be removed
11. Any repairs to be made good in matching materials
Key issues for consideration:
Principle, impact on AONB and Undeveloped coast, listed buildings and boathouse, Site of Special
Scientific Interest, design and materials

Site Description:
No.1 Old Coastguard Cottage forms part of a terrace of four dwellings located on the south
(Wembury) side of the River Yealm, almost opposite the Yealm Steps/pontoon on the Newton Ferrers
side. It is noted that all the cottages are used as holiday lets/second homes. The Coastguard
Cottages are only accessed by foot on the Wembury side down a coastal track or by boat from the
Newton Ferrers side. The Cottages are also grade II listed, although noted that the list description
states there are 3 it is clear from the description that the whole row comprises the designation. Below
the cottages on the foreshore edge is a Grade II listed boathouse and steps leading down to the
foreshore, both of which are not within the ownership of the applicant. The applicant owns the section
of land between the steps and the boathouse but must maintain rights of access to the boathouse to
the owner of cottage nos. 2 – 4.
The site is within the South Devon Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Undeveloped Coast and Site
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).
The Proposal:
Construction of a new timber quay to improve access for the residents of 1 Old Coastguard for
people, luggage, goods and materials and storage of the craft necessary to enable this. The structure
will be 7.8m long by 2.6m wide set on seven x 0.9m high timber posts attached to the revetment
slope.
Materials: GRP fibregrid floor, timber nosing, steel shoe and steel rods into stone quay, timber
material of posts

Page 32

This scheme has been amended since its original submission: The plans were amended to clarify the
position of the platform relative to the adjoining steps and dwarf wall. The platform height was
reduced by 0.28m to the base of the dwarf wall. The plan indicates the platform will be 5.9 Chart
Datum, which is the height relative to the tidal water height. In addition, the method for attaching the
proposed quay to the revetment and ground originally proposed to be anchored to concrete blocks
within the adjoining land. This has been amended to resin or grout anchored steel bolt or Duckbill
anchors.
In support of the application the applicant commissioned a Marine Safety Review Report by Nash
Maritime. This report concluded:
-

-

-

-

The outhaul system as currently rigged is difficult to use and results in needing to stand on the
revetment to reach the dinghy/strop.
The revetment is a sloped uneven surface with marine algal growth and/or seaweed and is not
easy to stand or walk on.
The outhaul should be re-rigged to be easier to operate and moved closer to the steps to
reduce needing to stand on the revetment.
The proposed quay would provide a safe and secure area to operate the outhaul, allow a
dinghy to be manoeuvred without standing on the revetment, provide a barrier to stop a dingy
riding over the revetment causing potential damage to the boat and provide a point to
entry/egress to the dinghy at certain points of the tide..
In relation to the recovery and storage of a dinghy the report found it is often necessary to
walk on the revetment to guide the dinghy into position, the dinghy rides over the revetment,
but a fender arrangement reduces likelihood of damage, it is difficult task and needs at least
two strong persons.
The proposed quay would eliminate the need to walk over the revetment, and at the right tide
height the dinghy could be hauled/rolled onto the quay.
Storing the dinghy on the proposed quay would enable the task to be undertaken by one
individual
The results of the risk analysis indicate that all the risk scores associated with the existing
operations fall in the ALARP (As Low as Reasonably Practicable) or less region of risk. The
scores are primarily driven by the fact that there have been no serious reported injuries nor
any major damage to dinghies or infrastructure.
The two operations found to have the greatest risk, scored at 5, were associated with the
existing operation were existing recovery/launching and storage of boats and existing outhaul
operation
By implementing the improvements to the outhaul system (re-rigging and re-positioning) the
likelihood risks are reduced to medium/low albeit remaining within ALARP. By additionally
implementing the proposed platform the existing operations shows that implementing these
measures can reduce the risk to low.

Further information was provided that stated:
-

-

The window either side of high water which has been revised to be just under 2hrs, which is
when the platform would be usable, is based on a mean high water spring tide (MHWS) and
mean high water neap tide (MHWN).
Figure 3 of the report shows a diagrammatic cross section with the levels of key features and
structures shown together with MHWS (+5.4m CD) and MHWN (+4.3m CD). Please note that
MLWS (+0.7m CD) and MLWN (+2.1m CD) aren’t shown on the drawing at this scale as they
intersect the foreshore some distance away from the property due to the shallow slope.
With regards to usage of the platform in spring tides and neap tides: The proposed platform
level is at +5.9m CD which means it will not be submerged on a high spring tide (MHWS is

Page 33

+5.4m CD therefore circa 0.4m clearance) and so there is a window for the platform to be
used during spring and neap tides.
Consultations:


Natural England: No objection subject to condition to address construction impacts on intertidal
interest features and reduce pollution in the marine environment, will not have significant adverse
impacts on designated sites Plymouth Sound and Estuaries SAC, Yealm Estuary SSSI and
protected landscape South Devon AONB and has no objection.



South Devon AONB Estuaries Officer: Further to Nigel Mortimer’s consultation response of the
13th September 2018 on behalf of the South Devon AONB Unit, this response provides additional
clarification from a designated landscape perspective on applications 2483/18/FUL &
2484/18/LBC. The following advice has been prepared with particular consideration of JLP policy
DEV25 on Nationally protected landscapes, NPPF para 172, 2019-24 South Devon AONB
Management Plan policies and South Devon AONB Planning Guidance. As a consequence we
are content to remove our holding objection subject to the use of appropriately worded conditions.
We agree with and support the comments of the Council’s Landscape Specialist and Heritage
Specialist. Whilst we do not object to this application, our preferred solution would be a more
collaborative use of the existing structures, and the pursuit of this particular scheme introduces
additional modern elements into the waterside scene; the modifications made to the proposal by
the applicant in combination with the use of carefully selected conditions will limit overall harm to
AONB special qualities and natural beauty.
We understand that the applicant has made a number of changes to the proposal that go some
way to addressing previously raised concerns and matters that required further information or
clarification. Of particular significance to the conservation and enhancement of natural beauty are:
• Deleting the proposed davit from the scheme,
• Amending the platform’s fixing system to minimise disturbance to the stone and mortar
quayside
• Removing the existing quay edge handrail which is of a design, materials and condition that
poorly relates to the historic character and appearance of the quayside.
We also understand that in the context of this proposal, the footprint of the scheme and land over
which the applicant has complete control are limited, providing very restricted opportunities for
enhancement of natural beauty beyond the removal of the existing handrail and reducing the
appearance of clutter created by in the corner of the quayside.
If after weighing the planning balance the LPA is minded to consent this application, the following
conditions are requested and considered reasonable to ensure the continued conservation and
enhancement of natural beauty of the South Devon AONB. Conditions should seek to cover:
• In advance of any works, a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be
submitted to the LPA with a particular focus on avoiding and minimising impacts on the sensitive
marine and intertidal environment. As a minimum expect this to contain detail of how all dust, silt
and other potential pollutants will be effectively captured and prevented from entering the estuary,
both during the construction phase as well as the new developments proposed uses.
• Storage on the platform is to be limited to boats and water craft.
• The existing handrail is to be removed and no new handrails are to be placed on or around the
quay.
• The seven hardwood supports of the quay should be left to weather and naturalise other than
to remove and control marine Invasive Non-Native Species such as the Pacific oyster. The
supports should be allowed to foul with barnacles, seaweeds, etc. No varnish, stain or oils should
be applied.

Page 34

• The fixing of the quay supports on or into the quay wall (which below Mean High Water Spring
line also serves as the foreshore here) must minimise its footprint and impact upon the foreshore,
stone and mortar. Any repointing should be kept to an absolute minimum and utilise traditional
materials in keeping with the colour and appearance of the rest of the quay wall.
• All fixings of the quay should be of a dark & muted colour and the GRP Fibregrid Floor should
be of the colour grey as identified in the proposal plans.
• No external lighting is to be installed or used.
• No significant boat maintenance should take place on the quay, as it is above the foreshore
and immediately adjacent to estuary waters
• No chemical means are to be used to clean the surface of the quay
• Marine Invasive Non-Native Species, specifically Pacific Oysters must be removed and
controlled.
Despite the documents associated with the proposal suggesting otherwise, the application clearly
indicates in the photomontage and proposed front elevation drawing, seven supporting columns
that extend below the Mean High Water Springs (MHWS) line. The following detail is therefore
requested to be included within any additional informatives:
• The application will require a Marine License from the MMO.


Landscape officers: The proposed addition of development in this area is regrettable as the
foreshore is under significant pressure for recreational uses, and currently contributes to the
estuary character as a special quality of the AONB. However when viewed from both the opposite
bank and the water, the proposed location lies between existing built features, and would not
extend the visible area of development. In addition, the level horizontal platform means that the
change in view would be limited. I note the intention to limit the number of boats stored in this
area through a Unilateral Undertaking and this is welcomed as a means to lower the associated
visual impacts of the proposals. Despite the principle concern about further foreshore
development, the impacts of this particular proposal on both landscape character and visual
amenity would be limited, and I would therefore not raise an objection on landscape grounds
under Development Plan policies DP2 and CS9, and the emerging policies of the Joint Local Plan.



Heritage Specialist:
This proposal has been the subject of lengthy debate and discussion with the applicant and other
interested parties. They sloping revetment was considered for listing by Historic England but was
assessed not to be of sufficient historic interest to merit individual designation. It is however
considered to be curtilage listed. The assessment has considered the impact of the proposal on
the revetment as a heritage asset and on the setting of the other designated assets (cottages and
boathouse).
In terms of the impact on the revetment itself, the profile of the stone quay structure will remain
intact so there will be no permanent change to the historic fabric and the new structure could be
fully removed in future should it prove to be no longer needed. It is acknowledged that the
appearance of the historic revetment will be altered, however the new addition would be clearly
legible.
In terms of the impact on the setting of the Coastguard Cottages and Boathouse, the proposed
quay would not harm the special interest of the assets provided the proposed quay functions to
improve water access. The impact on views from the Cottages will be minimal – a landing stage in
the foreground of the wider views with tenders stored upon it. The proposal would change the
views of this site and will result in some harm to setting, but this harm is relatively slight due to the
proposed structure being visually quite lightweight, serving a clear purpose and being (at least
notionally) reversible in future.
The NPPF states when harm is less than substantial it should be weighed against the public
benefits and securing its optimal viable use. The optimal viable use in this unique location is

Page 35

considered to be as a holiday let, and as such a proposal to improve accessibility is considered to
help ensure the cottage in kept in use which provides the public benefits.


MMO Office: Maine Licence required as the scope of works looks like it will occur below
MHWSprings which is the marine licensing area we are responsible for. However Mr Stewarts
planning application does not need to be held up for any reason and should proceed as normal.



Wembury Parish Council: Undecided



Newton and Noss Parish Council: Objection
Adverse impact on waterfront, listed buildings and heritage site, would create deck rather than a
quay.



Wembury Local History Society: Objection
Thanks to their Listed status, the cottages’ external appearance has been excellently preserved.
The height of the quay would render if unusable for most small boats. The applicant has full rights
to use the existing steps/jetty. The quay may be used for domestic curtilage. Concern about
damage to the armoured quay from new loadings of the quay.



River Yealm and District Association (RYDA). : Objection
The proposed "quay" and deck would obscure the existing quay and wall having a negative impact
on the listed building. The material of the proposed deck, GRP Fibre Grid, is particularly
detrimental and will be visible from the cottages and higher elevations across the river. A much
more sympathetic design would be possible using local natural materials



Gary Streeter MP: General comments
Writing on behalf of a number of objectors, concerns inaccuracies on the application as the
applicant does have rights of access over the jetty/steps, and that changes to how the outhaul is
rigged would resolve the issue of its use.



Yealm Harbour Authority: General comments
Two of our Committee did recently pay a visit to the site and have asked that I include the
following comment: “We refer to the planning application. We have been asked to comment on the
existing outhaul. In our view this could be made more safe with simple modifications.”
The Committee would wish to say that there is ‘no comment’ on the staging proposed and would
not wish to comment on the current infrastructure.
There are many boats left afloat during the winter months, many of which apart from bailing
(emptying of water) are left unused for long periods.

Representations:
18 letters of objection received on the following grounds:
- Unspoilt surrounding of listed attributes character and enjoyment of the area
- Out of keeping development, eye sore
- Too high above high tide mark
- Cottage currently has ample access
- Changing the outhaul and position on foreshore will make necessary access improvements
- Would change an iconic view
- Platform could only be used at high spring tide
- Platform would be used for sunbathing
- Within West Devon AONB
- No mention of the use of the quay in relation to tidal movement
- No details of structural integrity of the proposal
- Within curtilage of Grade II listed buildings
- Marine engineering works should be treated as Grade II listed
- The proposal would not enhance the local area

Page 36

-

-

During a storm and a high tide the structure will put significant additional loads on the historic
quay
If permission is granted, a condition should insist on watertight joints to protect the engineering
works
The change in material of the proposed quay to GRP grid will increase the upward force from
wave and wind during storms. The footings needed to anchor the quay will undermine the
stability of the historic quay and walls.
The storage of boats for No.1 Coastguard cottage has already been vertically against the high
wall
These buildings and the cobbled armoured wall are a historical record of an early 19th century
Coastguard station and are an important part of maritime history both in the Yealm and
nationally
Fibregrid surface will be inappropriate in this location
A steel ladder is needed on the quay to increase its use on lower tides
Access should be given to all cottages users to the new quay
The quay will collect seaweed which will rot and attract vermin and become a health hazard
The quay would impede usage of the existing steps
The plans were revised reducing the height of the quay which need to be considered. The
lower foundation block will have implications for the structural stability of the retaining wall
leading up to the cottages. A structural survey is needed.
The lowered height of the quay means it will be submerged in a spring tide and storm events.
The committee report is biased and contains misrepresentations
The whole site (including the revetment) was in single ownership and with common use long
before 1948. The jetty and revetment are included in the 1885 Baring estate map and there
should be no suggestion that it or the revetment were a later addition with different ownership
The ownership of the boathouse and slip or its use is irrelevant to this application
The outhaul has also been conclusively shown to be no longer relevant, and that is the only
point that needs to be made about the outhaul arrangements, but it is repeatedly referred to.
The main access issues are the long steeps steps up to the cottages, not the water access.
No 2 Coastguards has been used for viable holiday letting for 20 years using the existing
access arrangements and there has been no injury, as has No.1 for more than 3 years,
including a winter let.
The intended platform can only be accessed by boat for 1-2 hours maximum on high spring
tides of +5.4m CD or greater. These always occur early in the morning or evening. It cannot be
accessed by boat at any other tides. In April there are only 8 days with a 5.4CD or higher tide
and these are early morning.
A small boat can be brought out of the water just as easily over the revetment at a high spring
tide.
The owners of No.2-4 have offered the applicant level boat storage behind the quay of No2,
together with the whole of No2 quay and outhaul, but this has been declined.
An absentee landlord cannot ‘police’ any 106 agreement
Substantial harm is subjective and there has not been any ‘convincing justication’

Comments in response to Nash Maritime report:
- The report is not independent as commissioned and doctored by the applicant
- Omitted a discussion on use in relation to the tide
- Even at the top of a neap tide there would be a 2m gap to the top of the deck, at the top of
spring tide there would still be a gap of 0.6m.
- the report has not attempted the standard risk analysis approach of quantifying and comparing
the risk of the future proposal
- All results fall within ‘As Low As Reasonably Possible (ALARP) range or less” which “means
that they are acceptable, but some risk reduction should ideally be put in place. But the risk
score is calculated using the currently rigged outhaul scheme which has been shown can be
re-rigged to improve its use.

Page 37

-

Nash Maritime formed on 30 October 2018 at the time the report was commissioned, and the
website says ‘under construction’

4 letters of support on the following grounds:
- Photos should foreshore is covered in seaweed and access is dangerous during a high tide
- Previous rentees of no.1 concerned about dangers of access
- Sympathetic to the surrounds
- There are a number of newer quays which provide improved access to the other cottages
1 general comment on the following grounds:
- Works require a MMO licence
Relevant Planning History
 3078/17/FUL- Construction of a new quay to improve access, withdrawn
 0038/15/PRH - Pre-app enquiry to 1. restore external door and 2. timber decking to existing
quay. Officer support given.
ANALYSIS
Principle
It is acknowledged that the terrace of four Old Coastguard Cottages are in a very unique position
given they are not accessible by car, but by boat from the Newton Ferrers side of the river. In
addition, the boathouse and slipway that historically served all the cottages are now in the ownership
of no.2-4 and so the owners of no.1 have limited space to store or safely launch/recover boats at this
site. Nevertheless, this is a highly sensitive site within a very prominent position on the waters edge
opposite Newton Ferrers, added to which the cottages and boathouse are Grade II listed and the
sloping revetment to which the proposed quay would be attached is considered to be curtilage listed.
In terms of the existing access arrangements there is a ferry in operation from April to September
which normally runs for six hours per day (10:00 –16:00) which can drop occupiers off 200m away
from the cottages, although can sometimes drop on the foreshore at the cottages themselves. The
applicant has stated the nearest location to access by car is to park at Thorn Hamlet and walk 2km
down a steep track and the applicant has rights of access by foot, wheel barrow or hand cart, but in
practice this route is only used in an emergency or bad weather in winter.
At present the property is normally accessed by boat from the harbour pontoon over the beach at low
water and alongside the existing stone revetment or the neighbour’s steps/jetty at high water, to which
the applicant has rights of access. Heavy or bulky materials are usually loaded from Bridge End
Quay. Unloading or alighting on the historic stone revetment is described by the applicant as difficult
and hazardous as it is sloping, uneven and slippery but necessary to manoeuvre the boat into a place
and prevent it grounding. In terms of access over the steps leading down to the foreshore (referred to
in the deeds as jetty), the deeds confirm the occupants of no.1 have rights to use the steps. The jetty
to the south of the steps is within the sole ownership of the owner of no.2-4 Coastguards. It should
also be noted that while the owners of no.2-4 have no issue with the applicant using the steps, the
applicant states concerns have been raised over the liability of holiday tenants using them. While this
is not strictly a planning consideration but a civil matter it provides a better understanding the current
access arrangements of the different occupiers of the cottages.
The Nash Marine report commissioned by the applicant examined the current access arrangements
of No.1 Coastguards in terms of water access and storage of dinghies. Both this report and the
Harbour Authority agreed that the current outhaul scheme could be re-rigged for easier use which
could reduce the need to walk over the uneven sloping revetment. However, it should be noted this
proposed rearrangement of the outhaul would not aid the recovery or launching of dinghies and there
would still need a need to walk on the revetment to fend off the dinghy. The Nash report concluded

Page 38

that the proposed quay would provide a helpful level surface to operate the outhaul and would provide
the only means for the applicant to comfortably launch/recover dinghies, albeit at high tide.
The additional information provided by Nash Marine clarified the proposed quay could be used for
access to dinghies for approx. just under 2hrs either side of high water, and would not be submerged
during spring tides or inaccessible during neap tides. The owner of nos.2-4 Coastguards challenged
this assertion by way of photographic evidence of high tides, and the applicant consequently
amended the plans to lower the height of the platform and revise inaccuracies in the plans.
Nevertheless, the window the platform would be accessible for water access is not considered to
have changed significantly.
In terms of the window the proposed quay could be used, this has been confirmed as just under 2hrs
either side of high tide within the Nash report. Nevertheless, it should be acknowledged that with the
quay height at 5.9CD on the top of a neap tide there would be a substantial 1.6m drop from quay
height to water level which would require a temporary ladder attached to climb down to board a boat.
So while a 2hr window either side of high water is stated in the Nash report, it is officer opinion that
only on a spring tide would the quay provide a comfortable platform to load/off load from a boat
brought alongside the quay, and on lower tides a ladder would be needed. Spring tides occur twice
monthly, and in Newton and wider South Devon high tides during springs are always early morning or
early evening, further limiting the window for comfortable use of the quay to these times.
The proposed quay would provide a safe level platform on which the occupants of no.1 Coastguards
could launch and recover a small boat, or unload/load heavy goods at high tide. While there is some
ambiguity over the length of this window for safer access, it would provide opportunity for the owners
to safely bring in or out bulky goods from the property and recover their boat. It is also a given that
access to this property by boat is constrained by the tide and weather conditions, however the
applicant states the existing access arrangements are problematic and the proposed quay would
make access much easier. Outside of the window that the quay could be used, the occupiers would
still need to climb down to the foreshore to board a boat.
The neighbour, the owner of no.2-4 Coastguards, has said they have offered the applicant to swop
the land owned by the applicant for the stone quay, the revetment containing the outhaul and the flat
boat storage area. The applicant acknowledges this would be far easier to operate given it is
anchored to a level platform on land and would bring a boat directly into the steps. However owing to
the breakdown in neighbour relations the applicant is reticent about how such an agreement could be
worked out.
The second purpose of the quay is to provide a platform to store the two boats that are used by the
occupiers of no.1 through the winter months. At present it is very difficult to lift the boats out of the
water at the property due to the steep slope of the revetment, as also confirmed within the Nash
report, added to which the applicant has to retain rights of access over the narrow strip of level land
behind the revetment. During the winter months when the ferry is not in operation, if a bad weather
warning is issued it is very difficult for the applicant to pull the boat out of the water to secure it safely
when staying at the Cottage. In comparison to the previous application the davit has been removed
from the plans and a smaller less visually intrusive roller proposed to aid with the recovery of boats
from the water. It should be noted that the neighbour is able to store boats through winter within the
listed boathouse (if it were to be repaired and maintained) or on the stone jetty’s within their
ownership, although the neighbour contends these do not provide dry storage during high tides.
In summary, the proposed quay would provide a stable platform to operate the outhaul, although
acknowledging substantial improvements could already be achieved by re-rigging the outhaul and to
safely load/unload from at high tide. In addition, it would provide a means to be able to recover and
store two boats during winter when there is bad weather and no other means to access the property
other than by foot.

Page 39

Heritage
The Coastguard Cottages are listed as a single item as is the boathouse, both at grade II. The sloping
revetment has been considered for listing by Historic England but was assessed not to be of sufficient
historic interest to merit individual designation. It has, however, been treated as curtilage listed to the
Cottages which, to the best of our knowledge, at the time of listing were in a single ownership with the
revetment being shared. This judgement is based on the latest Historic England guidance.
In accordance with our policies, the 1990 Act and the NPPF the heritage assessment has taken on
two main considerations. Firstly the impact of the proposal on the character and significance of the
revetment itself as a heritage asset and secondly the effect on the significance, special interest and
setting of the designated heritage assets, (the cottages and the boathouse).
1. Impact on the revetment as a curtilage listed heritage asset
The revised design has reduced the apparent bulk and the height of the structure. It will be attached
to the rubble stone revetment which will involve some small amount of intervention and, therefore,
harm to the historic fabric. The profile of the stone revetment structure will remain intact so there will
be no permanent change to the historic fabric and the new structure could be fully removed in future
should it prove to be no longer needed.
The appearance of the historic revetment will be altered, there is no doubt in that. It will, however,
remain entirely legible what has happened even on a most casual inspection.
2. Effect on the Coastguard Cottages and Boathouse
The special interest of the Coastguard Cottages and their associated boathouse lies in their being
designed and located in a position to facilitate observation (from lookouts on Warren Point) of water
activity with direct access to it to facilitate management and assistance when needed. This highly
particular focus on marine activity is integral to the significance of the group and is emphasised by the
very relevant reality that the properties can only be accessed by water.
The proposed quay is intended solely to enhance the accessibility of the property. The design is
clearly indicative of that purpose so it can be seen as an evolution of the fundamental relationship of
people using the property with water craft. It is reasonable to conclude that the introduction of an
improved quay structure does not of itself cause harm to the significance or special interest of the
designated heritage assets so long as it is clearly designed to perform that function and nothing more.
Assessment of setting relates almost entirely to the views from the east, either from the water or sites
on the other side. The impact on views from the Cottages will be minimal – a landing stage in the
foreground of the wider views with tenders stored upon it. Step 3 of the assessment process set out
by Historic England in the guidance note ‘The Setting of Heritage Assets’ states, ‘Assess the effects
of the proposed development, whether beneficial or harmful, on that significance or on the ability to
appreciate it’. The site is in a beautiful location that is viewed, enjoyed and appreciated by many
1000’s of people each year. The proposal will change those views, as have the other constructions in
the locality including the very utilitarian concrete covering / re-building of the old jetty and two other
landing points / waterside structures constructed to the north and south of the site. Applying the HE
guidance the specialist heritage officer concludes that the proposed structure will result in some harm
to setting, but this harm is relatively slight due to the proposed structure being visually quite
lightweight, serving a clear purpose and being (at least notionally) reversible in future. The level of
harm has been reduced through negotiated design changes in accordance with Step 4 of the HE
guidance on setting.
The use of waterside buildings and quays changes over time and this progressive evolution is visible
in Newton and Noss as elsewhere. This nearly always results in a degree of harm but seldom to the
point that a locality appreciated for its beauty is considered to have lost that charm.
The most relevant para’s of the NPPF are:-

Page 40

NPPF 194: Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration
or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and convincing
justification…..
NPPF 196: Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance
of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the
proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.
This leads to the question ‘what is the Optimum Viable Use for the Cottages?’ The fact that all are
used as either holiday letting accommodation or second homes suggests that few people have the
desire to live permanently in such a location with no vehicular access as their principal dwelling. That
being the case the Cottages rely on occupation by visitors / guests and holidaymakers in order to
justify their ongoing maintenance and repair.
If holiday use is accepted to be the ‘Optimum Viable Use’ for the Cottages, what benefits does the
proposal offer? It appears to offer safer access to the site for people with limited skills in the handling
of watercraft or who rely on a water taxi to get there. It also appears to offer accessibility to a greater
proportion of the population who may have restricted mobility. The proposal will only present these
benefits to one cottage so that further complicates the judgement needed in the planning balance.
However, it is noted that alternative ways to provide enhanced accessibility for that cottage require
the use of land or structures not within the control of the applicant.
The specialist heritage officer concludes the proposal will result in some harm to the setting of the
heritage assets, but not to their special interest. The harm to the significance of the designated
heritage assets is certainly ‘less than substantial’ and relates almost entirely to impact on setting. The
level of harm can be considered justified if it secures public benefit, which includes supporting the
optimum viable use of the property and delivering enhanced accessibility for a greater proportion of
the population.
Landscape
In addition to the heritage issues, this is a highly sensitive and prominent site within the AONB and
undeveloped coast that is afforded the highest level of protection.
Nevertheless, the proposed structure would be low level and supported on timber posts that would
fade into the surrounding landscape over time. The visibility of the quay would be limited by being
positioned between the boathouse and stone steps, and it would be read in the context of the existing
stone quays located either side which are currently used to store boats.
There is some concern that this development could lead to a domestication of the foreshore from use
of the storage of domestic paraphernalia associated with sitting out/sun deck/BBQs etc. While the
applicant contends this point given the cottage is served by a large terrace, this is an area of concern.
It is noted that a number of smaller boats/dinghies are currently stored on the land behind the existing
stone quay which already detracts from the ‘unspoilt’ appearance of the foreshore but are fitting with
their marine location. In this case it not possible to condition the quay for use for launching/recovery
of boats only, as this is not an enforceable condition given the applicants have rights to use their land
as they wish in relation to residential use. Nevertheless, the applicant has agreed to pay for a
unilateral undertaking to be prepared that would ensure the quay could only be used for the storage of
two access boats and restrict any garden furniture. It is considered that in light of the low nature of
the structure, the legal agreement to restrict its use and the removal of the railings, it would conserve
and to some small degree enhance the natural beauty of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.
It is noted that Newton and Noss Neighbourhood Plan is now made so has full weight, and includes
policies N3P-2 on protecting the waterfront, N3P-8 on heritage and conservation and N3P-9 on
protecting the landscape. While the proposal is outside of the boundary of Newton and Noss it clearly
has a strong link by the water access and the views of the proposal from the Newton side.
Nevertheless, in line with the discussion above the proposal is considered to comply with these
polices as it is not considered to harm the landscape character or marine environment.

Page 41

Marine conservation
In terms of the impact on the estuary Natural England have reviewed the application, and in response
to additional specifications of the works provided and a Construction Environmental Management
Plan have confirmed the works would not have a significant adverse impact on Plymouth Sound and
Estuaries SAC, Yealm Estuary SSSI and protected landscape South Devon AONB. It is
recommended that further conditions are imposed to ensure:




Vehicle movements on the foreshore are kept to a minimum and access/egress routes clearly
defined.
No storage of equipment on the foreshore.
Contractors adhere to pollution prevention best practice guidelines including use of materials
that are not toxic to the marine environment and measures to ensure no leakage of materials
into the marine environment

The need to obtain a Marine Licence is outside the remit of this application, however it is noted that
applicants state they own the land on which the quay would be constructed. This is separate matter
that would need to be resolved once a decision has been reached on this application.
The AONB Estuaries partnership made further comments to confirm the proposal would require a
Marine Licence. While a Construction and Environmental Management Plan was submitted it has not
specifically detailed how dust, silt and other potential pollutants will be effectively captured and
prevented from entering the estuary, as requested by the estuaries officer. The CEMP should also
cover how materials will be transported to the site and protection of common oysters. The estuaries
officer also requests that all materials are muted colours and timber is left to fade naturally and there
should be not additional railings etc attached to the quay, and its size should be kept the minimum
necessary. The CEMP condition will therefore request a new detailed document to cover the points
above.
Other
Concerns have been raised on the implications on the structural integrity of the adjoining retaining
wall and surrounding structures, particularly given the reduction in height of the platform. However,
the method for attaching the quay to the revetment has been amended and as such the specialist
heritage officer has not requested a structural survey, and so the issues on the integrity of party walls
etc are a private matter outside the remit of this application.
Planning Balance
This is a highly prominent and protected site within the AONB, undeveloped coast and SSSI, however
the structure proposed is low level and not considered to be visibly harmful to the landscape or
AONB, subject to the legal agreement to restrict the storage of domestic furniture on the quay.
In terms of the need for the quay, the cottages are in a very unique position being only accessible by
boat, and No. 1 Coastguards has limited land to improve its access arrangements, although accepting
the applicant has rights of access over the existing steps/jetty. The proposed quay would provide a
limited window to comfortably board/alight from boats due to its fixed height above the highest spring
tide, however twice a month it would provide an opportunity to bring in bulky goods early morning or
early evening. In addition, on those high tides it would provide the only opportunity for the applicant to
easily take a boat off the water and store in an accessible position.
While there is considered to be some harm to the setting of the listed boathouse and revetment to
which it would be fixed, this is considered to be less than substantial and on balance outweighed by
the improved access for the occupiers of no.1 Coastguard Cottage in terms of its optimal viable use
as a listed building.
Any development on the foreshore is going to be highly sensitive, however it is considered that in this
case there is a need to provide improved access to No.1 Old Coastguard cottage and somewhere to

Page 42

store boats during bad weather. It is considered that given the minimal visibility of the quay proposed,
the legal safeguards on its use and the access improvements the proposal should be supported.
This application has been considered in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning &
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and, with Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.
Planning Policy
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the
development plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the 2004
Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in accordance with
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For the purposes of decision
making, as of March 26th 2019, the development plan for Plymouth City Council, South Hams District
Council and West Devon Borough Council (other than parts South Hams and West Devon within
Dartmoor National Park) comprises the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034.
Following adoption of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan by all three of the
component authorities, monitoring will be undertaken at a whole plan level. At the whole plan level,
the combined authorities have a Housing Delivery Test percentage of 166%. This requires a 5%
buffer to be applied for the purposes of calculating a 5 year land supply at a whole plan level. When
applying the 5% buffer, the combined authorities can demonstrate a 5-year land supply of 6.5 years at
the point of adoption.
Adopted policy names and numbers may have changed since the publication of the Main
Modifications version of the JLP.
The relevant development plan policies are set out below:
The Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by South Hams District
Council on March 21st 2019 and West Devon Borough Council on March 26th 2019.
TTV26 Development in the Countryside
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity
DEV2 Air, water, soil, noise, land and light
DEV20 Place shaping and the quality of the built environment
DEV21 Development affecting the historic environment
DEV23 Landscape character
DEV24 Undeveloped coast and Heritage Coast
DEV25 Nationally protected landscapes
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation
DEV29 Specific provisions relating to transport
DEV32 Delivering low carbon development
DEV35 Managing flood risk and Water Quality Impacts
DEV36 Coastal Change Management Areas
Wembury Neighbourhood Plan
Newton and Noss Neighbourhood Plan
N3P-2 Protecting the Waterfront
N3P-8 Heritage and Conservation
N3P-9 Protecting the landscape
Considerations under Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 have been taken into account
in reaching the recommendation contained in this report.

Page 43

Conditions:
1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of
three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 as amended by
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. The development hereby approved shall in all respects accord strictly with drawing numbers below
received by the Local Planning Authority on
P2269-DR-002 (13)
P2269-DR-005 (08)
P2269-DR-007 (09)
Site Location plan

17/5/18
27/2/19
27/2/19
25/09/17

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is carried out in accordance with the drawings
forming part of the application to which this approval relates.
3. If the quay is no longer needed for boat launching/recovery or boat storage then it shall be
removed and the land reinstated to its former state.
Reason: To ensure only essential marine development is retained on the foreshore.
4. Notwithstanding the details within the submitted Construction Environment Management Plan
(CEMP) received on 1st February 2018, further details shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local planning Authority in relation to preventing dust, silt and other potential pollutants from
entering the estuary, how materials will be transported to the site and where they will be stored, and
protection of common Oysters prior to the commencement of development. Development shall take
place in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect the foreshore from impacts of construction
This needs to be a pre-commencement condition to ensure biodiversity protection measures are in
place from the very start of the construction process.
5. Notwithstanding the details provided, there shall be no external lighting unless otherwise agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect the countryside from intrusive development and in the interests of biodiversity.
6. The proposed works shall be undertaken in compliance with the best practice guidance set out in
Natural England's response dated 28 March 2018 ref: 421789:
-

Vehicle movements on the foreshore shall be kept to a minimum and access/egress routes
clearly defined.

-

No storage of equipment on the foreshore

-

Contractors shall adhere to pollution prevention best practice guidelines including use of
materials that are not toxic to the marine environment and measures to ensure no leakage of
materials into the marine environment

Page 44

Measures to ensure complaince with the above shall be set out in the revised CEMP required by
condition 4 of this permission
-

Reason: To safeguard the intertidal and estuarine habitats

7. Prior to their use/installation full details and samples of the materials to be used in the construction
of the quay shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall take place in accordance with the approved details and no paint, vanish, stain or
other product shall be used that would change the appearance of the timber.
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity
8. Development shall take place in accordance with the conclusions and recommendations for
mitigation set out within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal by Ecology Services dated January
2018.
Reason: In the interests of biodiversity.
9. No davit, ladder or other lifting devise shall be permanently attached to the quay unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: to ensure the quay remains an uncluttered platform that conserves the landscape setting.
10. Prior to construction, the railings behind the proposed quay shall be removed and the land made
good with materials to match existing. No railings shall be reinstalled without the prior written consent
of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: to conserve the landscape setting of the site
11. Any repairs needed to existing structures as a result of the hereby approved works shall be done
with materials to match existing.
Reason: to conserve the landscape setting of the site

Page 45

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6c
PLANNING APPLICATION REPORT
Case Officer: Gemma Bristow

Parish: Wembury Ward: Wembury and Brixton

Application No: 2484/18/LBC
Agent/Applicant:
C Stewart
Olinda
Knoll Road
Godalming
GU7 2EP

Applicant:
C Stewart
Olinda
Knoll Road
Godalming
GU7 2EP

Site Address: 1 Old Coastguard Cottages, Wembury, PL9 0EJ
Development: Listed Building Consent for construction of a new quay to improve access
Reason item is being put before Committee: Cllr D Brown called this application to committee
given the large scale local objection to this application from Newton Ferrers and Noss Mayo, and the
impact on the coastline, and the AONB,

Page 47

Recommendation:
Conditional listed building consent
Conditions
1. Time
2. Accordance with plans
3. Details of methodology for fixing quay to stone revetment
Key issues for consideration:
- Impact on the curtilage listed quay structure
- Effect on the setting of the listed boathouse and Coastguard Cottages (all grade II)

Site Description:
No.1 Old Coastguard Cottage forms part of a terrace of four dwellings located on the south
(Wembury) side of the River Yealm, almost opposite the Yealm Steps/pontoon on the Newton Ferrers
side. It is noted that all the cottages are used as holiday lets/second homes. The Coastguard
Cottages are only accessed by foot on the Wembury side down a coastal track or by boat from the
Newton Ferrers side. The Cottages are also grade II listed, although noted that the list description
states there are 3 it is clear from the description that the whole row comprises the designation,
(copied in italics below for reference). Below the cottages on the foreshore edge is a Grade II listed
boathouse and steps leading down to the foreshore, both of which are not within the ownership of the
applicant. The applicant owns the section of land between the steps and the boathouse but must
maintain rights of access to the boathouse to the owner cottage nos. 2 – 4.
Within Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Undeveloped Coast and Site of Special Scientific Interest.
Row of three coastguard cottages. Early C19. Stone rubble. Low pitched slurried slate hipped roof.
Two storeys. Long seven window range. Left hand one window bay set back. Horizontally sliding
sashes with glazing bars. Only one doorway with hood on brackets and with glazed door. The other
doorway is now a window. The third door has a wooden porch in the angle of the set back. Three
rendered chimney stacks at the ridge.
The Proposal:
Construction of a new timber quay to improve access, 7.8m long by 2.6m wide on seven x 0.9m high
timber posts attached to the revetment slope.
Materials: GRP fibregrid floor, timber nosing, steel shoe and steel rods into stone quay, timber
material of posts.
The scheme has been amended since its original submission: The method for attaching the proposed
quay to the revetment and ground originally proposed to be anchored to concrete blocks within the
adjoining land. This was amended to resin or grout anchored steel bolt or Duckbill anchors.
Consultations:


Wembury Parish Council: Objection due to necessary demolition of adjoining historical wall not
being included in application. Structural survey also needed.



Newton and Noss Parish Council: Objection
Adverse impact on waterfront, listed buildings and heritage site, would create deck rather than a
quay.



Georgian Group: Objection

Page 48

Lack of justification on need to improve access given applicant has rights of access over stepped
jetty, and the height of the proposed quay would render it unusable, and its foundations would
harm the heritage asset.
Representations:
18 letters of objection received on the following grounds:
- Unspoilt surrounding of listed attributes character and enjoyment of the area
- Out of keeping development, eye sore
- Too high above high tide mark
- Cottage currently has ample access
- Changing the outhaul and position on foreshore will make necessary access improvements
- Would change an iconic view
- Platform could only be used at high spring tide
- Platform would be used for sunbathing
- Within West Devon AONB
- No mention of the use of the quay in relation to tidal movement
- No details of structural integrity of the proposal
- Within curtilage of Grade II listed buildings
- Marine engineering works should be treated as Grade II listed
- The proposal would not enhance the local area
- During a storm and a high tide the structure will put significant additional loads on the historic
quay
- If permission is granted, a condition should insist on watertight joints to protect the engineering
works
- The change in material of the proposed quay to GRP grid will increase the upward force from
wave and wind during storms. The footings needed to anchor the quay will undermine the
stability of the historic quay and walls.
- The storage of boats for No.1 Coastguard cottage has already been vertically against the high
wall
- These buildings and the cobbled armoured wall are a historical record of an early 19th century
Coastguard station and are an important part of maritime history both in the Yealm and
nationally
- Fibregrid surface will be inappropriate in this location
- A steel ladder is needed on the quay to increase its use on lower tides
- Access should be given to all cottages users to the new quay
- The quay will collect seaweed which will rot and attract vermin and become a health hazard
- The quay would impede usage of the existing steps
Comments in response to Nash Maritime report:
- The report is not independent as commissioned and doctored by the applicant
- Omitted a discussion on use in relation to the tide
- Even at the top of a neap tide there would be a 2m gap to the top of the deck, at the top of
spring tide there would still be a gap of 0.6m.
- the report has not attempted the standard risk analysis approach of quantifying and comparing
the risk of the future proposal
- All results fall within ‘As Low As Reasonably Possible (ALARP) range or less” which “means
that they are acceptable, but some risk reduction should ideally be put in place. But the risk
score is calculated using the currently rigged outhaul scheme which has been shown can be
re-rigged to improve its use.
- Nash Maritime formed on 30 October 2018 at the time the report was commissioned, and the
website says ‘under construction’
4 letters of support on the following grounds:
- Photos should foreshore is covered in seaweed and access is dangerous during a high tide
- Previous rentees of no.1 concerned about dangers of access
- Sympathetic to the surrounds

Page 49

-

There are a number of newer quays which provide improved access to the other cottages

1 general comment on the following grounds:
- Works require a MMO licence
Relevant Planning History
 3078/17/FUL- Construction of a new quay to improve access, withdrawn
 0038/15/PRH - Pre-app enquiry to 1. restore external door and 2. timber decking to existing
quay. Officer support given.
ANALYSIS
The Coastguard Cottages are listed as a single item as is the boathouse, both at grade II. The sloping
revetment has been considered for listing by Historic England but was assessed not to be of sufficient
historic interest to merit individual designation. Officers have, however, treated it as curtilage listed to
the Cottages which, to the best of our knowledge, at the time of listing were in a single ownership with
the revetment being shared. This judgement is based on the latest Historic England guidance.
In accordance with Joint Local Plan policies, the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)
Act, 1990 and the National Planning Policy Framework the heritage assessment has taken on two
main considerations. Firstly the impact of the proposal on the character and significance of the
revetment itself as a heritage asset and secondly the effect on the significance, special interest and
setting of the designated heritage assets, (the cottages and the boathouse).
1. Impact on the revetment as a curtilage listed heritage asset
The quay wall / revetment was not an original feature. It appears it was added in the later 19th or early
20th century. It is of less significance than the designated structures but is part of the ensemble and
contributes positively to the historic character of the site.
The revised design has reduced the apparent bulk and the height of the proposed structure. It will be
attached to the rubble stone revetment which will involve some small amount of intervention and,
therefore, harm to the historic fabric. The structural attachment involves the use of minimal contact
with rods resin set in holes drilled into the structure, this will be into joints between stones wherever
possible, and steel shoes within which the timber posts will be set. This has minimised the physical
harm as far as possible as the actual alterations to historic fabric are now minimal. The other minor
physical changes required do not amount to harm that would warrant refusal as the works can either
be undone in future or would leave so little trace as to be of negligible consequence.
The profile of the stone revetment structure will remain intact so there will be no permanent
irreversible change to the historic fabric.
The appearance of the historic revetment will be altered, there is no doubt in that. It will, however,
remain entirely legible what has happened even on a most casual inspection.
2. Effect on the Coastguard Cottages and Boathouse
The special interest of the Coastguard Cottages and their associated boathouse lies in their being
designed and located in a position to facilitate observation (from lookouts on Warren Point) of water
activity with direct access to it to facilitate management and assistance when needed. This highly
particular focus on marine activity is integral to the significance of the group and is emphasised by the
very relevant reality that the properties can only be accessed by water.
The proposed quay is intended solely to enhance the accessibility of the property. The design is
clearly indicative of that purpose so it can be seen as an evolution of the fundamental relationship of
people using the property with water craft. It is reasonable to conclude that the introduction of an

Page 50

improved quay structure does not of itself cause harm to the significance or special interest of the
designated heritage assets so long as it is clearly designed to perform that function and nothing more.
The setting issue and discussion of principle are more fully covered in the associated planning
application report.
For the purposes of the listed building consent the main issue is the physical impact on the curtilage
listed structure.
The use of waterside buildings and quays changes over time and this progressive evolution is visible
in Newton and Noss as elsewhere. This nearly always results in a degree of harm but seldom to the
point that a locality appreciated for its beauty is considered to have lost that charm.
The relevant Newton and Noss Neighbourhood Plan policy states, ‘Development proposals are
required to not have a significant adverse impact on designated and non-designated historic and
heritage assets and their settings….’ The harm assessed for this proposed development is not
considered to amount to ‘significant adverse impact’ and is, therefore, judged to meet the aims of the
Neighbourhood Plan.
The most relevant para’s of the NPPF are:NPPF 194: Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration
or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and convincing
justification…..
NPPF 196: Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance
of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the
proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.
Conclusion and recommendation
Assessment of the proposed development leads to the conclusion that the proposal will result in very
minor harm to the fabric of the quay / revetment and some small harm to the setting of the heritage
assets, but not to their special interest. The harm to the significance of the designated heritage assets
is certainly ‘less than substantial’ and relates almost entirely to impact on setting. The level of harm
can be considered justified if it secures public benefit, which includes supporting the optimum viable
use of the property and delivering enhanced accessibility for a greater proportion of the population.
This application has been considered in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning &
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, with Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990.
This application has been considered in accordance with Sections 16, 17 and 18 of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
Planning Policy
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the
development plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the 2004
Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in accordance with
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For the purposes of decision
making, as of March 26th 2019, the development plan for Plymouth City Council, South Hams District
Council and West Devon Borough Council (other than parts South Hams and West Devon within
Dartmoor National Park) comprises the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034.
Following adoption of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan by all three of the
component authorities, monitoring will be undertaken at a whole plan level. At the whole plan level,
the combined authorities have a Housing Delivery Test percentage of 166%. This requires a 5%
buffer to be applied for the purposes of calculating a 5 year land supply at a whole plan level. When

Page 51

applying the 5% buffer, the combined authorities can demonstrate a 5-year land supply of 6.5 years at
the point of adoption.
Adopted policy names and numbers may have changed since the publication of the Main
Modifications version of the JLP.
The relevant development plan policies are set out below:
The Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by South Hams District
Council on March 21st 2019 and West Devon Borough Council on March 26th 2019.
DEV21 Development affecting the historic environment
NPPF
189, 190, 192, 193, 194, 196
Wembury Neighbourhood Plan
No plan at present
Newton and Noss Neighbourhood Plan
N3P-8 b)
‘Development proposals are required to not have a significant adverse impact on designated and nondesignated historic and heritage assets and their settings. This shall include the setting and waterfront
of Bridgend.’
Considerations under Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 have been taken into account
in reaching the recommendation contained in this report.

Conditions:
1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of
three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 as amended by
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. The development hereby approved shall in all respects accord strictly with drawing numbers below
received by the Local Planning Authority on
P2269-DR-002 (13)
P2269-DR-005 (08)
P2269-DR-007 (10)
Site Location plan

17/5/18
21/3/19
21/3/19
25/09/17

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is carried out in accordance with the drawings
forming part of the application to which this approval relates.
3. Prior to installation, and notwithstanding details submitted, a technical specification of the method
for fixing the quay to the revetment, including the location of drilling holes, shall be submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out in strict accordance with the
approved details and thereafter retained as approved.
Reason: To ensure the development minimises physical harm to the historic revetment on which it is
attached.

Page 52

Agenda Item 6d
PLANNING APPLICATION REPORT
Case Officer: Jenny Draper

Parish: Wembury Ward: Wembury and Brixton

Application No: 0468/19/HHO
Agent/Applicant:
Mr Lee Ferris
Studio Agora Architects
Office 18
The Business Centre
Cattedown,
Plymouth
PL4 0EG

Applicant:
Miss R Mole
Little Tredinnick
Two Waters Foot
Liskeard
PL14 6HX

Site Address: 8 Hillcrest Close, Wembury, PL9 0HA
Development: Householder application for conversion and extension of single storey bungalow
to create new first floor above existing ground floor accommodation; Retained existing ground
floor fabric to be thermally upgraded and re-clad and existing accommodation reconfigured; new
adjoining flat roofed carport and garden store to be created; existing hardstanding to be adapted
to suit new parking arrangement (Resubmission of 2918/18/HHO)

Reason item is being put before Committee: Cllr D Brown has called this application to DM
Committee on the grounds of its potential overbearing impact on the AONB and the potential impact
on neighbouring properties.

Page 53

Recommendation:
Conditional Approval

Conditions
All pre-commencement conditions have been agreed by the agent by email received 1/5/2019.
Commencement within three years
Accord with plans
Material details to be agreed
Adherence to ecological mitigation recommendations
Boundary retention
No business or commercial use
CMP to be submitted and agreed
Obscure glazing to be fitted in bathroom
Flush fitting rooflights
Surface water drainage system to be agreed
Foul water system to be approved
Flue to be painted black or grey
Car port to remain as storage for domestic vehicles
Application required for the decking if over Permitted Development criteria

Key issues for consideration:
Impact on surroundings in terms of visual impact, design quality, scale.
Impact on privacy
Landscape impact as it is in the AONB

Site Description:
Hillcrest Close is a cul-de-sac of residential properties of mixed styles and sizes within the village of
Wembury.
The road is unmade and the properties have off road parking arrangements.
No 8 is a single storey dwelling with an attached garage, gardens to the front of 5.6m from the
highway to the dwelling, a side garden and a larger wedge shaped garden to the rear, measuring
between 16.4m and 22.8m from the dwelling to the boundary.
The site is within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Flood Zone 1.
The Proposal:
Extension of a single storey bungalow to create a new first floor above the existing ground floor
accommodation, creating accommodation within the roof void by raising the roof ridge by 1.73m and
the addition of a flat roofed rear dormer. The existing ground floor fabric will be thermally upgraded
and re-clad and existing accommodation reconfigured. A new adjoining flat roofed carport and garden
store is to be created and the existing hardstanding is to be adapted to suit new parking arrangement.
The increase in floor space is achieved using the existing footprint of the bungalow, extending the
raised roof void over the existing garage and is to be increased only by the addition of the carport and
store.
The existing bungalow has four bedrooms and the proposed dwelling proposes three bedrooms within
the roof void and one bedroom on the ground floor, therefore there is no increase in the total of
bedrooms.
The materials to be used include slate, timber and render, all of which are utilised to varying degrees
throughout the Wembury area.

Page 54

Consultations:


County Highways Authority



Parish Council - original objection received:
o There are very strong local objections.
o Over-development
o Overbearing, overlooking, totally out of character with street scene.
o Visited number 7 Beach View Crescent, they and other neighbours object, overlooking,
massive structure.
o Significant overlooking and loss of privacy.
o An overbearing increase in the layout and density of building.



The Parish have responded to the revised plans and comment further to their original
objection:
The re-submission of this planning application does little to change the invasion of privacy and
will surely prompt numerous letter of objection.

No Comments

Representations:
Representations from Residents
Two letters of support has been received and a total of 78 objections have been received for both the
application and the revised re-advertised scheme– although some concerned people have sent in
multiple letters and it is actually 43 individuals concerns that have been raised against the
development.
The comments cover the following points:
 Over dominance
 Balcony will cause overlooking of the dwellings to the rear
 Highway safety issues
 Adverse impact on the character of Hillcrest Close
 Design is out of character – looks like a commercial property
 Concern that a business will be run from the dwelling
 Impact on privacy to side and rear
 Doubling the height and footprint of the original bungalow, totally out of scale
 Carport could cause noise and fumes nuisance
 No other two storey houses in Hillcrest Close
 Over shadowing the living room, bedroom and front garden of No7 Hillcrest Close
Relevant Planning History
Historical planning approvals from 1977 to 1981
LA_Ref
Proposal
SiteAddress
Decision

58/0571/80/3: FUL
First floor extension to existing bungalow
8 Hillcrest Close Wembury
Conditional approval: 30 May 80

LA_Ref
Proposal
SiteAddress
Decision

58/0325/81/3: FUL
Extension
8 Hillcrest Close Wembury
Conditional approval: 02 Apr 81

LA_Ref

58/0927/77/3: FUL

Page 55

Proposal
SiteAddress
Decision

Extension to private dwelling
8 Hillcrest Close Wembury
Conditional approval: 16 Sep 77

ANALYSIS
Principle of Development/Sustainability:
According to the Joint Local Plan, Policy SPT1 states that the Local Planning Authority will support
growth and change that delivers a more sustainable future. Using a material palette of local
distinctiveness respects the sense of place.
Wembury is a well-established community with shops, school and community facilities including
transport links and complies with Policy SPT2 of the JLP.
The JLP does not define settlement boundaries but this proposal is for the remodelling of an existing
dwelling in a residential area of the thriving village of Wembury, therefore in accordance with Policy
TTV1 and TTV2 of the JLP.
It is therefore regarded that the principle of development conforms to the above JLP policies and is
acceptable.

Design/Landscape:
The site is within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and in accordance with policies DEV23 and
DEV25 of the JLP and paragraph 172 of the National Planning Policy Framework which gives great
weight to conservation and enhancement of the AONB, a development would not be permitted if
deemed to be harmful to the landscape character of the designated area.
Being firmly within the settlement in a suburban setting, as an extension to an existing dwelling and
given the mix of housing types in this locality and the proposed use of materials seen in the
surroundings, the development has no discernible landscape impact on the Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty and therefore no adverse impact on the AONB.
The recommendation of approval has a pre-commencement condition of submission and agreement
of a Boundary Management Plan to include the retention and additional planting to the boundary
treatments. This will enhance the existing tree boundary and increase the density of the privacy that
the boundary creates.
The inclusion of a flat roof dormer is acceptable in this instance as it is on the rear roof slope and flat
roof dormers are not unusual within Wembury.
It is the purpose of this application to extend the dwelling as it stands now and the Local Planning
Authority considers and assesses the existing building and the proposals put forward in each case.
The proposal is not considered overdevelopment of the site, as the development is using the existing
building and only increasing the footprint by the addition of the car port, which is an increase of
30.7m2 within the good sized plot.
In assessing the increase of 1.7m to the ridge height, a comparison was made with the heights and
styles of the surrounding dwellings. A number of the neighbouring dwellings, particularly to those to
the north side of Hillcrest Close, have higher roof profiles allowing them to make use of the roof
space. Others have had flat roof dormers, gabled roof extensions, many shapes and sizes can be
seen in Wembury. Having regard to the pattern of local development and the wider development
surroundings, this proposal is in accordance with JLP Policy DEV20.

Page 56

The original proposal was to increase the ridge height by 2.5m above existing roof height but this was
deemed as an unnecessary increase that created a top heavy building that could cause an
unacceptable dominance on the surroundings.
The applicant provided an amended design and this application before Committee proposes an
increase of 1.7m above the existing roof height. It is felt that this increase is acceptable, in that it will
not be dominant on any surrounding dwellings due to the distance between them and using the
materials proposed. The proposed building now has a well-balanced visual impact.
In considering the final proposal, it is noted that Hillcrest Close has many styles of dwelling that
includes 2 storey houses, dormer bungalows (many that have been added to by way of dormers) and
bungalows. There are many dwellings here and in Wembury in general that have accommodation
within the roof void. The proposed application is therefore in keeping with the range of styles of the
locality.
The materials proposed for the build are use of natural slate, render and timber are materials that can
be seen in Wembury and reflects a local palette hence making the building in keeping with the
residential area.
Neighbour Amenity:
This application is the culmination of amendments made to the original scheme 2918/18/HHO
submitted and withdrawn to reduce the height of the dwelling on the recommendations of the officer in
accordance with the Joint Local Plan Policy DEV1, which supports good residential amenity.
The subsequent application has been further reduced in height, making a total 800mm reduction and
the revised plans re-advertised for further consultation.
The revised design creates a well-balanced design and eliminates the previous top heavy dwelling.
The proposed front/north elevation has no additional windows overlooking the highway or neighbours
to the north. Instead, the use of rooflights and fixed glazing panels has been proposed within the front
roof slope. This is to maintain privacy from and for the neighbours sited approximately 23.3m and
41.5m across the highway.
The rear dormer has three Juliet balconies to the bedrooms and one to the study, each of these
screens will be obscure glazing. It is felt that the views from the bedrooms and study will be restricted
by both the obscure glazing of the Juliet screens and the trees in the rear boundary. The 29m2 of
glazing in the rear dormer is broken up with timber panels and presents a modern addition to this
elevation.
Given that this property is in the heart of an established urbanisation with many examples of various
styles of glazing, the proposed dormer will not cause unacceptable harm in the surroundings or
adversely affect the wider AONB.
It is the opinion of the Local Planning Authority that this development will cause no overshadowing or
loss of light to the occupiers of 7 Hillcrest Close as the buildings are currently 20m apart and it is not
deemed that a car port will have an overshadowing effect on that neighbour as there is a substantial
green tree/hedge boundary between the properties.
The proposed window on the west elevation has been designed with the addition of a Brise Soleil – a
fixed timber slatted screening that prevents direct views being achieved to the west and number 7
Hillcrest Close while allowing more light to enter the room and introducing an interesting design
feature. A condition for full joinery details of this element will be used to ensure delivery of the
intended screening properties.

Page 57

The distance between the new development and the dwellings is between 33m and 46m and
considered to be far enough to cause little overlooking. The area is a dense residential area and
there is no total privacy from neighbouring properties.
The indicative decking area indicated on drawing No.18104-SA-00-ZZ-DR-A-0101-P03 is not
considered as part of this application. Putting up decking, or other raised platforms, in your garden is
permitted development, not needing an application for planning permission, providing: The decking is
no more than 30cm above the ground level. If the decked area is to have a balustrade then this
would be far more than the 30cm limit. The application drawings only show an indicative image of
decking and no further information. The Local Planning Authority would need more information
regarding heights and balustrade details to assess any possible privacy issues before agreeing to a
decking area and a further planning application will be required.

Highways/Access:
The Devon County Council Highways Authority have raised no concerns regarding this application. It
is the intention, if the application is approved, to condition the submission of a Construction
Management Plan to ensure that working hours and noise/dust nuisance is considered and managed
as agreed by the Local Planning Authority. Hillcrest Close is an unmade road and the Construction
Management Plan will ensure proper management of the construction process in order to avoid any
damage.
The existing dwelling has a drive and garage on the eastern side and a further vehicular entrance on
the western side. There is currently a hardstanding on the western side for two vehicles and the
proposal is to widen this entrance to accommodate the passage of two vehicles into the proposed
attached car port. This in effect is no increase to the existing facility for parking at this end of the site.
The widening of the access will have no impact on the users of Hillcrest Close because it is at the end
of a cul-de-sac and has no passing traffic.
This proposal has been considered in accordance with JLP Policy Dev29.
Objections that the carport could cause noise and fumes nuisance.
This is not a concern as vehicles can already be parked on the existing hardstanding area and in the
area of the proposed car port without planning permission being required. The car port will, in effect,
be further away from the neighbour than the existing hard standing and create a physical barrier that
will enhance the screening of the vehicles.
Any noise and fumes nuisance should be reported and dealt with under Environmental Health
legislation.
The carport will be conditioned, if approved, to remain for the use of vehicles.
Drainage:
The area is not within a Flood Zone or Critical Drainage Area and the application indicates an existing
septic tank and soakaway that will be used.
Conditions will be used to confirm the size for the soakaway and the condition and size of the septic
tank will be submitted and approved by the Authority’s’ drainage officer.
The development is over an existing dwelling and the only increase to the hard surface area will be
the addition of the car port. The current car hardstanding area is 45.6m2 and this is to become the
drive and car port and store area. The increase in hard surface area is 30.7m2 and it is a
requirement to provide an adequately sized soakaway for this addition.
With the proposed conditions the proposal will accord with the JLP policy DEV35 Flood Risk and
Water Quality.

Page 58

Biodiversity
The submitted ecological assessment survey undertaken by Tor Ecology dated 19th October 2018
concluded that the site offered negligible potential for roosting bats due to the limited suitable features
available. It makes recommendations which have been included as a condition of this approval if
granted.

Other Matters:
Objections which raised concern that a business will be run from the dwelling.
The design includes the creation of a large office and seating area on the upper floor. The applicants
are both medical professionals and require an area for each of them to have a desk. They also intend
to use the area for personal fitness using gym equipment and a seating area to enjoy the views
towards the sea.
This application is seeking consent for a domestic extension and is not for a change of use to run a
business. There is no separate public entry way and not part of the consideration of this application.
Conclusion:
This is a householder application for the enlargement of an existing bungalow by way of raising the
ridge by just over 1.7m and using the roof void to create three bedrooms, a bathroom and a large
study/seating area.
The agents and applicants have worked with the Local Planning Authority amending their proposal in
line with the recommendations from the officer.
It is now felt that the current application before you is acceptable in terms of design, impact on the
neighbouring properties and the surroundings.

This application is therefore recommended for approval subject to appropriate conditions.

This application has been considered in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning &
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
Planning Policy
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the
development plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the 2004
Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in accordance with
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For the purposes of decision
making, as of March 26th 2019, the development plan for Plymouth City Council, South Hams District
Council and West Devon Borough Council (other than parts South Hams and West Devon within
Dartmoor National Park) comprises the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034.
Following adoption of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan by all three of the
component authorities, monitoring will be undertaken at a whole plan level. At the whole plan level,
the combined authorities have a Housing Delivery Test percentage of 166%. This requires a 5%
buffer to be applied for the purposes of calculating a 5 year land supply at a whole plan level. When
applying the 5% buffer, the combined authorities can demonstrate a 5-year land supply of 6.5 years at
the point of adoption.
Adopted policy names and numbers may have changed since the publication of the Main
Modifications version of the JLP.

Page 59

The relevant development plan policies are set out below:
The Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by South Hams District
Council on March 21st 2019 and West Devon Borough Council on March 26th 2019.
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity
DEV2 Air, water, soil, noise, land and light
DEV20 Place shaping and the quality of the built environment
DEV23 Landscape character
DEV25 Nationally protected landscapes
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation
DEV29 Specific provisions relating to transport
DEV35 Managing flood risk and water quality impacts
Neighbourhood Plan – the Wembury Neighbourhood Plan is in the process of being
designated and holds no policy weight.
Considerations under Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 have been taken into account
in reaching the recommendation contained in this report.

Conditions
1. Standard time limit
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of three
years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 as amended by
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. Adherence to plans
The development hereby approved shall in all respects accord strictly with drawing numbers 18104SA-00-ZZ-DR-A-1102-P03 (Proposed South and West Elevations),
18104-SA-00-ZZ-DR-A-1101-P03 (Proposed North and East Elevations),
18104-SA-00-ZZ-DR-A-0101-P03 (Proposed Floor Plans),
18104-SA-00-ZZ-DR-A-2101-P03 (Proposed Sections)
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 12th April 2019 and
18104-SA-00-00-DR-A-0001 (Site Location Plan) received by the Local Planning Authority on the 20th
February 2019.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is carried out in accordance with the drawings
forming part of the application to which this approval relates.
3. Materials samples
Prior to their installation details of facing materials and of roofing materials to be used in the
construction of the proposed development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall then be carried out in accordance with those samples as
approved and thereafter retained.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity

Page 60

4. Adherence to ecological mitigation recommendations
Following the recommendations of the Ecologist in the submitted report from Tor Ecology dated 19th
October 2018, works shall be undertaken in the following manner:
• Any works to remove roof coverings shall be undertaken carefully by hand, checking for bats and
droppings throughout.
• A suitably licensed ecologist shall be present during works to remove the roof coverings.
• In the unlikely event that bats (or signs of bats) are discovered during construction, works shall
cease immediately and a licensed bat ecologist be contacted for advice.
• Site operatives shall be made aware of how to recognise the signs of bats during construction as per
the guidelines set out in Appendix II.
• two 2FE Schwegler Wall-Mounted Bat Shelter shall be attached to the south or east elevation of the
refurbished dwelling at a height of over 2m from the ground.

Reason: For the protection of protected species in line with current legislation, The Wildlife and
Countryside Act (as amended) 1981.
5. Boundary retention and management
No existing boundary vegetation (trees and hedgerows) shall be cut, managed or removed from the
site until a plan for the management of the existing boundary vegetation, including the planting of
additional native vegetation to increase the density, is submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The boundaries shall thereafter be managed in accordance with the
approved management plan.
All elements of the Boundary Management Scheme shall be implemented in the first planting season
following reasonable completion of the development of the dwelling and maintained in accordance
with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any
plant that dies, is removed or fails to thrive within the first five years after implementation shall be
replaced with a plant of the same specification unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local
planning authority.
Reason: In the interest of public amenity and the conservation and enhancement of the local
landscape character and the natural beauty of the AONB.

6. CMP to be agreed prior to commencement
Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and
approved a Construction Management Plan (CMP) including:
(a) the timetable of the works;
(b) daily hours of construction;
(c) any road closure;
(d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with such
vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays inc.; 9.00am
to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and Bank/Public
Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in
advance;
(e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and the
frequency of their visits;
(f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates,
packing materials and waste will be stored during the construction phase;
(g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building materials,
finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with confirmation that no
construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the

Page 61

County highway for loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by
the Local Planning Authority;
(h) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and
(i) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit construction
staff vehicles parking off-site
(k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations
(l) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking.
(m) site management arrangements, including the site office and developer contact number in the
event of any construction related problems, and site security information.
(n) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement of any
work;

This CMP shall be strictly adhered to during the construction of the development hereby permitted,
unless variation is approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, public convenience and highway safety and preventing
inconvenient obstruction and delays to public transport and service vehicles and to emergency
vehicles.
7. Obscure Glazing
The upper floor bathroom window on the east elevation shall be obscure glazed, fixed shut or top
opening only and permanently retained as such.
A sample of glass to show the obscurity (Level 4 or 5) of the glazing in the Juliet screens shall be
submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning Authority prior to the installation of the screens.
Reason: In the interests of the residential amenities of the adjoining occupiers particularly to protect
privacy.
8. Rooflights to be flush fitting
The rooflights shall be fitted so as to be flush with the roof profile.
Reason: To protect the appearance and the character of the area.

9. Surface water soakaway details
Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the installation of any part of the surface water
drainage scheme or before development continues above slab level, whichever is the sooner, full
details to confirm the condition and capacity of the existing surface water drainage scheme shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. Design steps are:


Percolation testing in accordance with DG 365 will be required to support the re-use of the
existing soakaway. The report should include the trail logs and calculate the infiltration rate.



Soakaway design to demonstrate it can accommodate additional surface water for a 1:100
year event plus an allowance for climate change. (Currently 40%)



If the ground conditions are not suitable for soakaway then a controlled discharge to a
watercourse or Sewer can be considered. The surface water should be attenuated for a 1:100
year event plus 40% for climate change. The offsite discharge should be limited to greenfield
runoff rate. Full details of the flow control device including head/discharge relationship will be
required.

Page 62

If the calculated Greenfield runoff rate is too small to be practically achievable, then a
maximum offsite discharge rate of 1.0l/s can be considered. Which is achievable in
most cases with suitable pre-treatment and shallower storage depth.


If discharging to the sewer written permission from SWW will be required.

If the Local Planning Authority concludes that the method of drainage approved as part of this
permission is undermined by the results of the percolation tests, a mitigating drainage alternative shall
be agreed with the Local Planning Authority
The drainage scheme shall be installed in strict accordance with the approved plans, maintained and
retained in accordance with the agreed details for the life of the development.
Reason: To ensure surface water runoff does not increase to the detriment of the public highway
or other local properties as a result of the development.

10. Foul drainage details to be approved
Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the installation of any part of the foul drainage scheme
or before development continues above slab level, whichever is the sooner, full details to demonstrate
the condition and capacity of the existing foul drainage scheme, shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details to include a location plan, cross sections/elevations,
specification to confirm it meets the current standards and its capacity to accommodate foul sewage
from proposed development. Please note if the existing system doesn’t meet the current standards
then a new treatment plant should be used instead of septic tank.
Reason: In the interests of the prevention of pollution.

11. Flue colour to be black or grey
Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, all approved flues shall be finished in a
matt black or grey colour and shall project the minimum height above the roof plane as required to
comply with the Building Regulations requirements.
Reason: To ensure that the development displays good design practice in respect of the surrounding
area.

12. Retention of car port for storage of domestic vehicles
The car port and storeroom hereby approved shall only be used in connection with the adjoining
dwellinghouse as a domestic garage and store and shall not be converted into additional
accommodation.
Reason: To safeguard the amenity and character of the surrounding area and preserve adequate off
road parking facilities.
13. Application required for the decking
Notwithstanding Condition 2, the timber decking marked as indicative on drawing No 18104-SA-00ZZ-DR-A-0101-P03 at the rear of the dwelling is not approved by this consent.
Reason: Full detail have not been provided to properly assess any possible privacy issues before
agreeing to a decking area.

Page 63

14. Joinery details of the Brise Soleil on the west elevation
Prior to the installation of the dormer, full joinery details of the timber slatted screen (Brise Soleil) on
the west elevation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Such details shall be at 1:20 or 1:50 and shall include cross sections, profiles, reveal, finish and
colour. The work shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details and shall be
permanently retained in that form unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that there is no ability to overlook the neighbouring property and preserve privacy.

Page 64

Agenda Item 6e
PLANNING APPLICATION REPORT – Householder Developments
Case Officer: Chris Mitchell

Parish: East Allington

Application No: 3851/18/HHO
Agent:
Andrew Lethbridge Associates
102 Fore Street
Kingsbridge
TQ7 1AW

Applicant:
Dr & Mr Kiddey & Woods
7 Greenhill Terrace,
Greenhill
East Allington
TQ9 7RB

Site Address: 7 Greenhill Terrace, Greenhill, East Allington, TQ9 7RB
Development: Retrospective householder permission for the erection of replacement single storey
extension on rear elevation
Reason item is being put before Committee: Whilst a significant proportion of the extension can be
built under Permitted Development concern is still raised with the scale and massing of the rear
extension and impact upon neighbouring properties.

Page 65

Recommendation: Conditional Approval
Conditions
1.
2.
3.
4.

Standard time limit
Adherence to plans
Sample of proposed render
Privacy Screen

Key issues for consideration: Impact upon neighbour amenity, design and visual impact upon the
local landscape character and AONB.

Site Description:
The site is located within the village of East Allington with access taken from Greenhill. The property is
a late 19th Century mid terrace property built with brick walls, UPVC windows and doors and concrete
slate roof. The property is not sited within special area of designation.
The Proposal:
The application is for the retention of a retrospective single storey extension on the rear elevation of the
property with a rear decked area and steps down into the back garden. The extension is built with block
work rendered walls, aluminium windows and doors and singly ply membrane flat roof with grey coated
metal capping parapet. The raised decked area has a 1.8m privacy screen erected on the western
elevation of the raised decked area and ensure no overlooking to No. 8 rear garden.
Consultations:


County Highways Authority

No objection



Town/Parish Council

No comments received to revised plans
Previous comments on 8th January 2019
The Council have considered the above application
and have no objections

Representations from Residents
There have been two letters of representation received and cover the following points:








The extension breaches the 45 degree rule of the ground floor window of No. 6 and therefore
results in loss of daylight to this property;
Results in a loss of outlook from No. 6;
The reduction in height of the extension is still overly dominant due to height and massing;
The design of the extension is flat roofed and does not match that of the existing property;
If granted it sets a precedent within the local area;
The reduction of the decking would still result in overlooking into neighbours gardens and does
not remove previous objection;
The property is sited within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and does not
contribute the to the locality;

Relevant Planning History
None

Page 66

Analysis
Principle:
The property is situated within the settlement of East Allington and the principle of extending a dwelling
is acceptable subject to scale, massing and impact upon neighbouring properties. Therefore the
extension is compliant with Joint Local Plan Policies SPT1 (Delivering sustainable development) and
SPT2 (Sustainable linked neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities).
The existing rear extension whilst large has replaced a previous extension of the same footprint though
it was fully glazed with windows and a clear glazed roof. The agent has submitted photographs of said
extension within their support planning statement. The replaced extension has solid walls thereby
increasing the massing of the extension, however, officers are mindful that under permitted
development an extension of 3m in depth by 3m in height could be built without the need for planning
permission. When considering these measurements the increased depth of the extension is 1.4m and
0.6m in height from that of the previous extension as shown on drawing number ACL.1106.201 Rev C.
The constructed raised decked area is unacceptable and result in significant loss of privacy to
neighbouring property. Initial discussion was had with agent for the erection of a privacy screen to
overcome this issue though on reflection officers considered such screens would result in further
increasing the massing of the extension. It is therefore recommended that the decked area should be
removed in its entirety.
Design:
Concern has been raised by neighbours to the massing and finish of the extension and after
negotiations with officers a reduction in height by 0.2m of the building has been agreed and shown on
drawing ACL.1106.201 Rev C. This assists in reducing the massing of the building and therefore officers
do not consider it to be of such significance to warrant the refusal of this application. It has been agreed
that a rough render finish and lighter colour would improve the appearance of the extension and it is
recommended that a condition for details to be submitted would be placed on any permission granted.
The rear decked area as detailed above results in an unacceptable level of overlooking to neighbouring
property’s private garden and should be omitted. However, access is required to the rear garden so it
has been agreed with officers that raised decked area of 4.2m in length by 1m depth and set 2.3m away
from north west boundary to No. 6 with steps down into the garden has been agreed. It is recommended
that a condition of compliance shall be placed on any permission granted that the existing decked area
shall be reduced to these dimension within 2 months of the date of any planning permission granted.
The extension is considered to comply with Joint Local Plan Policy policies DEV20 (Place shaping and
the quality of the built environment) and DEV23 (Landscape character) as the reduction in height and
proposed use of a rough cast case render does not result in significant visual harm upon the local
landscape character.
Neighbour issues:
The objection by the neighbour at No. 6 Greenhill Terrace to the extension’s dominance and loss of
light is noted though as detailed previously it must be considered that the applicant could build an
extension up to 3m in depth and 3m in height under permitted development rights of the property. This
would result in a solid massing upon neighbouring property and whilst the proposed extension exceeds
the permitted development allowance by 0.6m height and 1.4m in depth. It is also noted that the
extension has been stepped away from the boundary by 1m though this does not overcome the issue
of massing.
The extension is of similar depth to that of No. 8 Greenhill Terrace and the walls of the extension are to
be finished in a light coloured render that will reflect light back into the neighbouring property’s windows.

Page 67

Officers have discussed the case with the Heritage Specialist who advises that a rough cast light
coloured render would improve the appearance of the extension upon the cottages. A condition for the
colour and finish of the render will be conditioned with any approval given.
The comment that the proposal fails to comply with the 45 degree rule is noted though this is guidance
on extensions to properties and officers consider the impact upon neighbouring properties in respect to
right to light and issue of dominance, each case is judged on its own merits. It should be noted that if
the neighbour built an extension under the properties permitted development allowance it would breach
this rule.
The objection by No. 6 Greenhill Terrace to the loss of light to the room adjacent to the extension that
is a kitchen/dining room is noted. This kitchen/dining room does benefit in having two other light sources
along this rear elevation consisting of a glazed back door and window. Therefore together with reduction
in height of the building by 0.2m thereby reduces its massing and is not considered to result in the
significant loss of light to the rear room of No. 6.
The extension and rear raised decked area does not result in any dominance to No. 8 Greenhill Terrace
as it is of a similar depth.
The objection that the roof should match that of existing property is noted though modern extensions
are permitted subject to their design and officers must be mindful that under permitted development
with flat roof extensions are permitted and therefore this concern cannot be an overriding reason to
refuse this application.
The installed high level window on the east elevation is not above the standard 1.7m height and so it is
recommended that a condition is applied to ensure that this window is fitted with obscure glass and is
fixed closed to ensure no overlooking into neighbouring property of No. 6.
The concern raised that such an extension would harm the character and appearance of the existing
terrace of houses is noted though it is of a modern and contemporary style that subject to the finish and
colour that is not harmful to the terrace of properties. The property is not as claimed set with the AONB
and would not set a precedent as each application is judged on its own merits and therefore cannot be
a reason for refusing this application.
The objection to the raised decked area is noted and has been reduced in size to 1m in depth by 4.2m
in length platform with steps down into the rear garden. Whilst there would be an element of overlooking
from the rear raised decked area it is only 1m in depth off the extension and would not permit persons
the ability to sit and overlook No. 6 private garden. Therefore in officer’s opinion the revised plan has
removed the previous objection and concerns raised by the Local Planning Authority to significant loss
of privacy.
There is no overlooking achieved from the decked area to No. 8 Greenhill Terrace as a privacy screen
is proposed and it is noted that a 1.8m privacy screen has been erected on the western elevation of the
raised decked area and ensure no overlooking to No. 8 rear garden. With the revised decked area a
privacy screen is proposed to be installed to ensure the privacy with No. 8 garden and therefore an
appropriate condition would applied to any planning permission granted.
The extension is considered to comply with Joint Local Plan Policy DEV2 (Air, water, soil, noise, land
and light) as the extensions massing does not result in the significant loss of light to neighbouring
property and the reduced raised decked area and steps has removed the ability to sit out and overlook
neighbouring property’s private garden.

Page 68

Drainage:
There is no increase in additional toilet facilities and the surface area of the extension is of same size
as previously sited on the site. Therefore the application comply with Joint Local Plan Policy DEV 35
(Managing flood risk and Water Quality Impacts).
Conclusion:
The rear extension is acceptable and does not result in the significant loss of light into the rear
kitchen/dining room of neighbouring property of No. 6 Green Hill Terrace. Whilst the extension is of
modern and contemporary design it does not result in harming the character and appearance of the
existing terrace or local area.
This application has been considered in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning &
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
Planning Policy
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the development
plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the 2004 Planning and
Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in accordance with the development
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The relevant development plan policies are set out below:
DEVELOPMENT PLAN
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the development
plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the 2004 Planning and
Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in accordance with the development
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For the purposes of decision making, as of
March 26th 2019, the development plan for Plymouth City Council, South Hams District Council and
West Devon Borough Council (other than parts South Hams and West Devon within Dartmoor National
Park) comprises the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034.
Following adoption of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan by all three of the component
authorities, monitoring will be undertaken at a whole plan level. At the whole plan level, the combined
authorities have a Housing Delivery Test percentage of 166%. This requires a 5% buffer to be applied
for the purposes of calculating a 5 year land supply at a whole plan level. When applying the 5% buffer,
the combined authorities can demonstrate a 5-year land supply of 6.5 years at the point of adoption.
Adopted policy names and numbers may have changed since the publication of the Main Modifications
version of the JLP.
The relevant development plan policies are set out below:
The Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by South Hams District
Council on March 21st 2019 and West Devon Borough Council on March 26th 2019.
SPT1 Delivering sustainable development
SPT2 Sustainable linked neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity
DEV2 Air, water, soil, noise, land and light
DEV20 Place shaping and the quality of the built environment
DEV23 Landscape character
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation
DEV35 Managing flood risk and Water Quality Impacts

Page 69

Neighbourhood Plan
There is no proposed neighbourhood plan for this area.
Considerations under Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 have been taken into account in
reaching the recommendation contained in this report.
Conditions
1. Within two months of the date of this permission all alterations to the extension and raised
decked area shall be undertaken in accordance with drawing number ACL.1106.305 Rev A
received by the Local Planning Authority on 17th April 2019, drawing numbers ACL.1106.204
Rev B and ACL.1106.205 Rev A received by the Local Planning Authority on 12th April 2019 and
drawing numbers ACL.1106.200 Rev B and ACL.1106.201 Rev C received by the Local
Planning Authority on 15th March 2019 and drawing number ACL.1106.001 received by the
Local Planning Authority on 27th November 2018 and shall thereafter be retained and
maintained.
Reason: To protect the amenity and privacy of residents of adjoining property.
2. A sample of the colour/finish of the rough cast render of the extension shall be submitted to and
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority and shall thereafter be retained and
maintained.
Reason: To protect the amenity and privacy of residents of adjoining property.
3. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting this Order) the high
level window hereby approved on the east elevation of the extension as shown on drawing
numbers ACL.1106.200 Rev B and ACL.1106.201 Rev C shall be fitted with obscure glass, and
shall be fixed closed. This shall be undertaken within two months of the date of this planning
permission and thereafter be retained and maintained.
Reason: To protect the amenity and privacy of residents of adjoining property.
4. The privacy screen as detailed on drawing numbers ACL.1106.200 Rev B and ACL.1106.201
Rev B on the west elevation of the raised landing/deck hereby permitted shall be installed prior
to the use of the raised decked area and shall thereafter be retained and maintained.
Reason: In the interests of the residential amenities of the adjoining occupiers.

Page 70

Agenda Item 6f
PLANNING APPLICATION REPORT
Case Officer: Adam Williams

Parish: Ashprington Ward: West Dart

Application No: 1021/19/PDM
Agent/Applicant:
Luscombe Maye
59 Fore Street
Totnes
Devon
TQ9 5NJ

Applicant:
Mrs J Soper

Site Address: Barn At Higher Yetson Farm, Ashprington, Totnes, TQ9 7EG
Development: Notification for prior approval for proposed change of use of agricultural
building to dwellinghouse (Class C3) and for associated operational development (Class
Q(a+b))
Reason item is being put before Committee: Applicant is related to Council Employee

Page 71

Recommendation: Prior Approval required and given
Conditions
1. Accord with plans
2. Unexpected Land Contamination
3. Foul Drainage
4. Surface Water Drainage
5. accord with ecology report
Key issues for consideration:
Whether the proposal complies with the criteria set out within Schedule 2, Part 3, Class Q (a
& b) of The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order, 2015 (as
amended) and if so whether prior approval of the authority will be requires as to :
(a) transport and highways impacts of the development,
(b) noise impacts of the development,
(c) contamination risks on the site,
(d) flooding risks on the site,
(e) whether the location or siting of the building makes it otherwise impractical or
undesirable for the building to change from agricultural use to a use falling within Class
C3 (dwellinghouses) of the Schedule to the Use Classes Order, and
(f) the design or external appearance of the building,
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Site Description:
The site is located at Higher Yetson Farm which is within the hamlet of Yetson where there
are a number of dwellings, converted barns and agricultural buildings. The barn is an open
fronted silage store built in the 1970s and has since been used for low key agricultural
storage.
The Proposal:
The application seeks a determination as to whether prior approval is required for the change
of use of an existing agricultural barn to a single dwelling together with the associated
operational development comprising the installation of windows, doors and replacement roof.
A small low barn adjacent to the barn in question will also be removed.
It is therefore considered under Schedule 2, Part 3, Class Q (A&B) of The Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development), Order, 2015 (as amended).
Paragraph W applies to applications submitted for prior approval whereby
Consultations:
County Highways Authority – no comments to make
As the determination of the application does not rest on planning merit, the Town/Parish
Council are sent a notification for information only.
Representations:
None

Page 72

ANALYSIS
The main considerations with the application are whether the proposal is permitted
development as assessed under Class Q parts (a) and (b) and if so whether prior approval is
required for the matters outlined within Q.2 of Schedule 2, Part 3 of the Order.
The application seeks prior approval for development that falls within both parts (a) and (b).
Development not permitted:
Q.1 Development is not permitted by Class Q if—
(a) the site was not used solely for an agricultural use as part of an established agricultural
unit—
(i) on 20th March 2013, or
(ii) in the case of a building which was in use before that date but was not in use on that date,
when it was last in use, or
(iii) in the case of a site which was brought into use after 20th March 2013, for a period of at
least 10 years before the date development under Class Q begins;
Q.1 (a) Information provided with the application confirms that the site was in full
agricultural use on 20 March 2013. The applicant confirms that the barn was built for
the purposes of storing silage and has always been used in association with the
surrounding land and is confirmed with an Agricultural Holding Number. Since then it
has been in use for low key agricultural machinery storage
The council has no reasons nor evidence before it to dispute this claim. The council
has not received any information from third parties which supports nor refutes that
claim. The site visit provided officers with comfort that the building is and not deviated
from its agricultural use
(b) in the case of—
(i) a larger dwellinghouse, within an established agricultural unit—
(aa) the cumulative number of separate larger dwellinghouses developed under Class
Q exceeds 3; or
(bb) the cumulative floor space of the existing building or buildings changing use to a
larger dwellinghouse or dwellinghouses under Class Q exceeds 465 square
metres;
Q.1 (b) The proposed building to be converted has a footprint of 216sqm and will be
converted into 1 ‘larger’ dwellings and no other buildings have been converted and the
floor space will not exceed 465sqm
(c) in the case of—
(i) a smaller dwellinghouse, within an established agricultural unit—
(aa) the cumulative number of separate smaller dwellinghouses developed under Class
Q exceeds 5; or
(bb) the floor space of any one separate smaller dwellinghouse having a use falling
within Class C3 (dwellinghouses) of the Schedule to the Use Classes Order
exceeds 100 square metres;
Q.1 (c) no smaller dwellings are proposed
(d) the development under Class Q (together with any previous development under Class Q)
Within an established agricultural unit would result in either or both of the following—

Page 73

(i) a larger dwellinghouse or larger dwellinghouses having more than 465 square metres of
floor space having a use falling within Class C3 (dwellinghouses) of the Schedule to the
Use Classes Order;
(ii) the cumulative number of separate dwellinghouses having a use falling within Class C3
(dwellinghouses) of the Schedule to the Use Classes Order exceeding 5;
Q.1 (d) The proposal within the agricultural unit would not result in a larger
dwellinghouse or larger dwellinghouses having more than 465sqm of floor space with
a C3 use nor would amount to a cumulative number of separate dwellinghouses with a
C3 exceeding 5.
The applicant is advised that if permitted, this application would amount to a
cumulative total of: 1 larger dwellinghouse. The cumulative number of separate
dwellings having a use falling within Class C3 would therefore not exceed 5.
Reviewing the planning history for the holding indicated no other Class Q applications,
the dwelling known as ‘The Stables’ is within the ownership line and was converted in
1993 but this was through a full application as opposed to through permitted
development (01/1294/93/3: FUL)
(e) the site is occupied under an agricultural tenancy, unless the express consent of both the
landlord and the tenant has been obtained;
Q.1 (e) it has been confirmed by the agent that the site is not currently occupied under
an agricultural tenancy agreement.
(f) less than 1 year before the date development begins—
(i) an agricultural tenancy over the site has been terminated, and
(ii) the termination was for the purpose of carrying out development under Class Q,
Q.1 (f) The agent has confirmed that no agricultural tenancy over the site has been
terminated for the purposes of carrying out development under Class Q less than one
year before the development begins.
(g) development under Class A(a) or Class B(a) of Part 6 of this Schedule (agricultural
buildings and operations) has been carried out on the established agricultural unit—
(i) since 20th March 2013; or
(ii) where development under Class Q begins after 20th March 2023, during the period which
is 10 years before the date development under Class Q begins;
Q.1 (g) The Council does not have a record of any recent development under Class
A(a) or Class B(a) of Part 6 of this Schedule (agricultural buildings and operations)
elsewhere within the unit.
(h) the development would result in the external dimensions of the building extending beyond
the external dimensions of the existing building at any given point;
Q.1 (h) The proposed development would not result in the external dimensions of the
building extending beyond external dimensions of the existing building at any given
point.
(i) the development under Class Q(b) would consist of building operations other than—

Page 74

(i) the installation or replacement of—
(aa) windows, doors, roofs, or exterior walls, or
(bb) water, drainage, electricity, gas or other services,
to the extent reasonably necessary for the building to function as a dwellinghouse; and
(ii) partial demolition to the extent reasonably necessary to carry out building operations
allowed by paragraph Q.1(i)(i);
Q.1 (i) The proposed building works would include the conversion of the barn within
the existing structure; and the insertion of windows and doors. The agent has
confirmed in its statement that the barn will be converted in accordance with the Class
Q legislation,
The applicant is also reminded of the advice contained within the NPPF and the Hibbit
decision. The agent confirms in its statement that the accompanying plans and
structural report demonstrate that the barn can be converted without any significant
alterations to the structure, the block walls, steel frame and roof are all in good
structural order and can be retained as existing. The front of the Barn is open so it will
require the insertion of new windows and doors within a new elevation to the open
front to enclose the conversion.
This is in line with precedent established by Hibbitt v Secretary of State for
Communities and Local Government [2016] EWHC 2853 (Admin) where it was
deemed that the balance to be struck is where the line falls on what is a conversion
and what is a rebuild. The case considered by the courts was a fully open sided barn
with a metal sheet roof, as more elevations were needed to the provided in the
construction than not, this was considered rebuild. More enclosed barns (those with 3
or 4 sides enclosed) are acceptable as the conversion also means leaving more of the
original building intact.
It is also confirmed that the windows and doors to be inserted will comprise powdercoated aluminium frames which will utilise the vertical design and will be inserted into
the elevations of the building to create a contemporary look.
The applicant recognises that a Class Q application needs to be a “conversion” and
therefore the structure, external cladding and box profile roof will be retained and
utilised with only the insertion of windows and doors in accordance with Class Q
legislation.
The accompanying structural report confirms that the existing structure appears sound
and in good overall condition.
The applicant confirms that the proposal involves changing the use of an existing
building; therefore, A suitable condition will be attached to any permission granted
requiring the submission and consideration if surface and foul drainage given the
absence of details on submitted plans.
Q.1 (j) (k) (l) (m) – N/A. The site is not on article 2(3) land. The site is not nor forms part of a
safety hazard area nor a military explosives storage area. The site is not nor contains a
Scheduled Ancient Monument. The building is not a listed building.
Conditions:
Q.2— (1) Where the development proposed is development under Class Q(a) together with

Page 75

development under Class Q(b), development is permitted subject to the condition that before
beginning the development, the developer must apply to the local planning authority for a
determination as to whether the prior approval of the authority will be required as to—
(a) transport and highways impacts of the development
(b) noise impacts of the development.
There are no significant transport and highways impacts or noise impacts resulting
from the proposed development. The proposal will be access via an existing track that
leads from nearby county highway which runs all the way to Harberton. This access
track concrete and of a good width leading directly up to the barn is considered
suitable for domestic use. The building is well positioned within the farmstead. A
modest garden and parking for 2 cars is proposed within the curtilage for the unit is
shown
(c) contamination risks on the site
There are no significant contamination or flooding risks associated with the site,
however a
condition will be attached to cover unsuspected contamination that may be apparent
resulting
from its former agricultural use.
(d) flooding risks on the site
There are no flooding risks associated with the site and the site is not located within a
Critical
Drainage Area.
(e) whether the location or siting of the building makes it otherwise impractical or undesirable
for the building to change from agricultural use to a use falling within Class C3
(dwellinghouses) of the Schedule to the Use Classes Order, and
Paragraph 109 of the Planning Practice Guidance advises that:
Impractical or undesirable are not defined in the regulations, and the local planning
authority should apply a reasonable ordinary dictionary meaning in making any
judgment. Impractical reflects that the location and siting would “not be sensible or
realistic”, and undesirablereflects that it would be “harmful or objectionable”.
When considering whether it is appropriate for the change of use to take place in a
particular location, a local planning authority should start from the premise that the
permitted development right grants planning permission, subject to the prior approval
requirements
Paragraph 109 contains some non-exhaustive examples;
‘’ local planning authorities may for example, consider that because an agricultural
building on the top of a hill with no road access, power source or other services its
conversion is impractical’’
Its location is not undesirable or impractical for a change of use from an agricultural
building
to a Class C3 dwellinghouse. It has appropriate access off the county highway to the
north east.

Page 76

(f) the design or external appearance of the building, and the provisions of paragraph W
(prior approval) of this Part apply in relation to that application.
The design and external appearance of the building is acceptable and the application
complies with the requirements set out In paragraph W of Part 3.
(2) Where the development proposed is development under Class Q(a) only, development is
permitted subject to the condition that before beginning the development, the developer must
apply to the local planning authority for a determination as to whether the prior approval of
the authority will be required as to the items referred to in sub-paragraphs (1)(a) to (e) and
the provisions of paragraph W (prior approval) of this Part apply in relation to that application.
This application is for Class Q (a) and (b)
(3) Development under Class Q is permitted subject to the condition that development under
Class Q(a), and under Class Q(b), if any, must be completed within a period of 3 years
starting with the prior approval date. This application is for Class Q (a) and (b).
Conclusions
On the basis of the information submitted, it is considered that the proposal is in accordance
with the rights afforded by Class Q (a & b) of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) and the associated advice
contained within the National Planning Policy Practice. As such, prior approval is not required
and the application is deemed lawful development.
Considerations under Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 have been taken into
account in reaching the recommendation contained in this report.

Conditions 1. The development hereby approved shall in all respects accord strictly with drawing
number(s)
Bat, Barn Owl & Nesting Bird Survey by Butler Ecology dated 20th March 2019 – received
27/03/2019
Existing Ground Floor Plan – Drawing Number: 210518/01 - received 27/03/2019
Existing Site Plan – Drawing Number: 210518/03 - received 27/03/2019
Proposed Site Plan – Drawing Number: 210518/06 - received 27/03/2019
Proposed Elevations – Drawing Number: 210518/05 - received 27/03/2019
Proposed Ground Floor Plan – Drawing Number: 210518/04 - received 27/03/2019
Existing Elevations – Drawing Number: 210518/02 - received 27/03/2019
HB Surveying Limited – Barn at Higher Yetson, Ashprington - received 27/03/2019

Page 77

Planning Statement: Ref: AMB – Date: March 2019 – Amanda Burden (Hons), FAV,
MBIAC– Received: 27/03/2019
Site location plan – Drawing Number: SHDC1 - received 27/03/2019
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is carried out in accordance with the
drawings forming part of the application to which this approval relates.
2. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at
the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted, and obtained
written approval from the Local Planning Authority for, an investigation and risk assessment
and, where necessary, a remediation strategy and verification plan detailing how this
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation strategy and
verification plan and prior to occupation of any part of the permitted development, a
verification report demonstrating completion of the works set out in the approved remediation
strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and approved, in
writing, by the local planning authority.
Reason: No site investigation can completely characterise a site. This condition is required to
ensure that any unexpected contamination that is uncovered during remediation or other site
works is dealt with appropriately.
3. Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the installation of any part of the foul
drainage scheme or before development continues above slab level, whichever is the sooner,
full details of the works for the disposal of sewage shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA), and the dwelling shall not be occupied until the
approved works have been completed to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.
Please note that a treatment plant should be used rather than a septic tank.
Reason: In the interests of the prevention of pollution.
4. Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the installation of any part of the surface
water management scheme or before development continues above slab level, whichever is
the sooner, full details of the most sustainable drainage option shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA). Design steps as below:
a. Soakaway testing to DG 365 to confirm the use of soakaways or to support an alternative
option. Three full tests must be carried out and the depth must be representative of the
proposed soakaway. Test results and the infiltration rate to be included in the report.
b. SuDS to be designed for a 1:100 year event plus 40% for climate change.
c. If the Local Planning Authority concludes that the method of drainage approved as part of
this permission is undermined by the results of the percolation tests, a mitigating drainage
alternative shall be agreed with the Local Planning Authority
d. The drainage scheme shall be installed in strict accordance with the approved plans,
maintained and retained in accordance with the agreed details for the life of the development.
Reason: To ensure surface water runoff does not increase to the detriment of the public
highway or other local properties as a result of the development.
5. The recommendations, mitigation and enhancement measures of the Ecological Report,
by Butler Ecology on 20th March shall be fully implemented prior to the commencement of the

Page 78

use hereby approved and adhered to at all times. In the event that it is not possible to do so
all work shall immediately cease and not recommence until such time as an alternative
strategy has been agreed in writing with the local planning authority.
Reason: To safeguard the interests of protected species
INFORMATIVES
1. The responsibility for ensuring compliance with the terms of the approval rests with the
person(s) responsible for carrying out the development. The Local Planning Authority uses
various means to monitor implementation to ensure that the scheme is built or carried out in
strict accordance with the terms of the permission. Failure to adhere to the approved details
can render the development unauthorised and vulnerable to enforcement action.
2. Attention is drawn to the Conditions contained within Class Q.2 of Class Q, Part 3,
Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England)
Order 2015 (as amended). In particular condition (3) which requires the development to be
completed within a 3 year period from the date of prior approval being granted.
3. The applicants attention is drawn to the advice contained within paragraph 105 of the
Planning Practice Guidance which states that the proposed works are only considered to
benefit from the permitted development right on the understanding that no new structural
elements are proposed. The existing building should be structurally strong enough to take the
loading which comes with the external works to provide for the proposed residential use. If
any new structural works are required then the proposal will not benefit from permitted
development afforded by Class Q of Part 3 of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended).
4. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details submitted to the local
planning authority, unless the local planning authority and the developer agree otherwise in
writing.

Page 79

This page is intentionally left blank

South Hams District Council

Agenda Item 7

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 22-May-19
Appeals Update from 29-Mar-19 to 14-May-19
Ward

Allington and Strete

APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :
LOCATION :
APPEAL STATUS :
APPEAL START DATE:

1940/18/HHO

APP/K1128/D/19/3225544
Mr J Peters
Householder application for extension and alterations to dwelling to form additional bedroom
8 Crestway, Strete, TQ6 0SF
Appeal Lodged
08-May-2019

APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Ward

Blackawton and Stoke Fleming

APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :
LOCATION :
APPEAL STATUS :
APPEAL START DATE:

3755/18/OPA

APP/K1128/W/19/3227919
Mrs J Blampey
Outline planning application for a new detached dwelling
Sycamore Cottage, Hillfield, TQ6 0LU
Appeal Lodged
03-May-2019

APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Ward

Charterlands

APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :
LOCATION :
APPEAL STATUS :
APPEAL START DATE:

4022/18/OPA

APP/K1128/W/19/3226585
Mr R Sanderson
Outline application with some matters reserved for a residential development
comprising 9no. homes (6 market and 3 social / intermediate). This comprises 7no
two storey and 2no. one storey fully accessible houses (Resubmission of 3965/17/OPA)
Proposed Development Site at SX 634 479 Sanderson's Field, Kingston
Appeal Lodged
15-April-2019

APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Ward

Dartington and Staverton

APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :
LOCATION :
APPEAL STATUS :
APPEAL START DATE:
APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:
APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :

LOCATION :
APPEAL STATUS :
APPEAL START DATE:

0956/18/OPA

APP/K1128/W/18/3215680
Mr & Mrs Hosea
Outline application with all matters reserved for erection of single storey dwellinghouse
Vineyard Field, Vineyard Hill, Dartington, TQ9 6NL
Appeal Lodged
15-January-2019
Upheld
09-April-2019
2587/17/FUL
APP/K1128/W/19/3225507
Bloor Homes South West
Retrospective application for erection of 1100mm high masonry N1 compliant vehicle
restraint barrier designed in accordance with Design Manual for Roads and Bridges
(DRMB) relating to road restraint systems[TD19/06] and constructed under the s278
highway improvements approved by Devon County Council as part of the Puddavine
Field development.
Highway land between Nellies Wood View and Dartington Lane, Dartington, Totnes
TQ9 6FP
Appeal Lodged
16-April-2019

APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Page 81
1

Ward

Dartmouth and Kingswear

APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :
LOCATION :
APPEAL STATUS :
APPEAL START DATE:

2513/18/FUL

APP/K1128/W/19/3224713
Mr NJ Woodhouse & Mrs R Jordan
Proposed subterranean garage
Land adjacent to Ford Bank Apartments, Vicarage Hill, Dartmouth
Appeal Lodged
10-April-2019

APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Ward

Kingsbridge

APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :
LOCATION :
APPEAL STATUS :
APPEAL START DATE:

3469/18/VAR

PP/K1128/W/19/3225569
H2Land
Application for variation of condition 2 of planning permission 4140/16/FUL
Rivermaid Boatyard, Embankment Road, Kingsbridge, TQ7 1JZ
Appeal Lodged
12-April-2019

APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Ward

Loddiswell and Aveton Gifford

APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :
LOCATION :
APPEAL STATUS :
APPEAL START DATE:
APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Ward

0490/18/FUL

APP/K1128/W/18/3217159

Mr R A Tickner
Change of use of existing garage and store to provide ancillary/holiday
accommodation including a rear store extension
Lower Leigh Farm, Kingsbridge, TQ7 4AG
Appeal decided
07-January-2019
Dismissed (Refusal)
09-May-2019

Newton and Yealmpton

APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :
LOCATION :
APPEAL STATUS :
APPEAL START DATE:

2046/18/PIP

APP/K1128/W/18/3216796

Mrs May
Permission in principle for development of 3no. detached houses with garages and
provision of 4no. parking spaces and the provision of footpath to link the village
of Sparkwell to the Dartmoor Zoological Park
Proposed development site at SX 581 580, Birchland Farm, Birchland Way, Sparkwell
Appeal Lodged
12-April-2019

APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:
APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :
LOCATION :
APPEAL STATUS :
APPEAL START DATE:

2111/18/FUL

APP/K1128/W/19/3220353
Mrs S Hoppins
Proposed siting of a temporary mobile home for 4 - 5 years to serve growing
agricultural enterprise.
Land At Sx 5988 5382, Winsor Cross To Swainstone Coombe Wood, Worston, Yealmpton
Appeal Lodged
08-April-2019

APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:
APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :
LOCATION :
APPEAL STATUS :
APPEAL START DATE:
APPEAL DECISION:

3979/17/VAR

APP/K1128/W/18/3214236

Mr & Mrs Jones
Application for variation of condition No.2 following grant of planning permission
under appeal ref: APP/K1128/W/16/3153009 (2611/15/FUL)to allow
for alterations to approved plans
Land At Sx 553 478, Opposite Thorndean, Bridgend, Noss Mayo, PL8 1DX
Appeal Lodged
16-January-2019
Dismissed (Refusal)

Page 82

1

APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Ward

17-April-2019

Salcombe and Thurlestone

APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :
LOCATION :
APPEAL STATUS :
APPEAL START DATE:

2242/18/FUL

APP/K1128/W/19/3223954
Mr & Mrs Keeler
Change of use from ancillary accommodation into a separate residential dwelling with
associated access, parking and residential curtilage
Long Park Studio, Long Park, Higher Batson, TQ8 8NG
Appeal Lodged
12-April-2019

APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:
APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :
LOCATION :
APPEAL STATUS :
APPEAL START DATE:
APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Ward

3231/18/HHO

APP/K1128/D/19/3223450

Mr J Crossley
Householder application for alteration and extension to dwelling (resubmission of
1538/18/HHO)
9 Croft Road, Salcombe, TQ8 8DZ
Appeal Lodged
01-March-2019
Dismissed (Refusal)
11-April-2019

Stokenham

4323/17/FUL

APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :

APP/K1128/W/19/3226094
Mr & Mrs Harris
Demolition of existing two bedroom chalet and construction of a two bedroom house

LOCATION :
APPEAL STATUS :
APPEAL START DATE:

The Crab Pot, Beesands, Stokenham, TQ7 2EH
Appeal Lodged
17-April-2019

APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Ward

West Dart

APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :
LOCATION :
APPEAL STATUS :
APPEAL START DATE:
APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:

2461/18/FUL

APP/K1128/W/18/3218561

Mrs M Costa
New dwellinghouse and coach house on green field site, adjacent to the occupants’
small holdings
Land at SX 756 597 adjacent to Yeo Cottage, Totnes
Appeal Lodged
29-January-2019
Dismissed (Refusal)
12-April-2019

Page 83
1

This page is intentionally left blank

South Hams District Council

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 22-May-19
Appeal Hearings/Public Inquiry from 29-Mar-19
Ward

Newton and Yealmpton

APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :

2111/18/FUL

APP/K1128/W/19/3220353
Mrs S Hoppins
Proposed siting of a temporary mobile home for 4 - 5 years to serve growing agricultural
enterprise.
LOCATION :
Land At Sx 5988 5382, Winsor Cross To Swainstone Coombe Wood, Worston, Yealmpton
APPEAL STATUS :
Appeal Lodged
APPEAL START DATE:
08-April-2019
TYPE OF APPEAL
Informal hearing
DATE OF APPEAL HEARING OR INQUIRY: 18-June-2019
LOCATION OF HEARING/INQ:
Cary Room, Follaton House
APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Ward

Salcombe and Thurlestone

APPLICATION NUMBER :
APPELLANT NAME:
PROPOSAL :

2748/17/FUL

APP/K1128/W/18/3215145
1st Asset
The demolition of all existing buildings on site while retaining the southern stone
boundary wall and concrete quay, erection of circa 265sq m commercial floorspace at
ground floor and a 6 bedroom dwelling with guest suite complete with existing access
and the creation of five associated parking spaces
LOCATION :
Brewery Quay, Island Street, Salcombe, TQ8 8DP
APPEAL STATUS :
Appeal Lodged
APPEAL START DATE:
15-March-2019
TYPE OF APPEAL
Informal hearing
DATE OF APPEAL HEARING OR INQUIRY: 05-June-2019
LOCATION OF HEARING/INQ:
Cary Room, Follaton House
APPEAL DECISION:
APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Page 85
1

This page is intentionally left blank

